

LUND UNIVERSITY

Old Foe, New Friend?

Rhetorical responses of mainstream parties towards a radical right party

Calvo, Esther

2025

Link to publication

Citation for published version (APA):

Calvo, E. (2025). Old Foe, New Friend? Rhetorical responses of mainstream parties towards a radical right party. [Doctoral Thesis (compilation), Department of Political Science]. Lund University (Media-Tryck).

Total number of authors:

General rights

Unless other specific re-use rights are stated the following general rights apply:

Copyright and moral rights for the publications made accessible in the public portal are retained by the authors and/or other copyright owners and it is a condition of accessing publications that users recognise and abide by the legal requirements associated with these rights. • Users may download and print one copy of any publication from the public portal for the purpose of private study

or research.

You may not further distribute the material or use it for any profit-making activity or commercial gain
 You may freely distribute the URL identifying the publication in the public portal

Read more about Creative commons licenses: https://creativecommons.org/licenses/

Take down policy

If you believe that this document breaches copyright please contact us providing details, and we will remove access to the work immediately and investigate your claim.

LUND UNIVERSITY

PO Box 117 221 00 Lund +46 46-222 00 00

Old Foe, New Friend?

*

 $\mathbf{\hat{x}}$

Rhetorical responses of mainstream parties towards a radical right party

ESTHER MARY L. CALVO POLITICAL SCIENCE | FACULTY OF SOCIAL SCIENCES | LUND UNIVERSITY Old Foe, New Friend?

Old Foe, New Friend? Rhetorical responses of mainstream parties towards a radical right party

by Esther Mary L. Calvo



DOCTORAL DISSERTATION

Dissertation for the degree of Doctor of Philosophy (PhD) at the Faculty of Social Sciences at Lund University to be publicly defended on the 25th of April 2025 at 10:15 in Eden's Auditorium, Department of Political Science, Allhelgona kyrkogata 14, 221 00 Lund

Supervisors: Professors Hanna Bäck and Jonathan Polk

Faculty opponent Assoc. Prof. Frederik Hjorth University of Copenhagen

Organization LUND UNIVERSITY	Document name	
Department of Political Science	DOCTORAL DISSERTATION	
Box 52	Date of disputation	
	2025-04-25	
SE-221 00	Sponsoring organization	
Lund, Sweden		
Author(s)		
Esther Mary L. Calvo		
Title and subtitle		
Old Foe, New Friend?		
Abstract With their increasing electoral success, radical right (populist) parties (RRPs) are consolidating their pres- ence in many western democracies. It is well-documented that mainstream parties alter policy positions and issue salience salience during elections to meet the RRP challenge, yet how these strategies unfold in parlia- ment remains an area to be explored. In this dissertation, I focus on two attributes of legislative speeches, namely sentiment and issue attention, which I argue mainstream parties can leverage to compete against RRPs. These attributes, which I refer to as "rhetorical responses", vary and are shaped by the mainstream party's choice of strategy, the electoral threat from the RRP, as well as the extent to which the radical right and main rival bloc engage in the RRP's defining issue, that is immigration. Paper 1 applies sentiment analysis to legislative speeches in the Swedish Riksdag. We find that MPs from Swedish mainstream parties use more negative language when addressing Sweden Democrats (SD) compared to when their speeches are directed at other mainstream parties. Furthermore, we demonstrate that negativity has declined over time, particularly among the center-right MPs. Paper 2 reveals a differentiation in the levels of negativity between legislators from the center-right MPs. Paper 4 I find that immigration's salience in mainstream party speeches is positively associated with the RPP's attention to the issue and its electoral performance as well as with specifically as performed as with the RPPs at the thory to the speeches in the Reptore at the reformance as well as with		

a main rival bloc's emphasis on immigration. Moreover, in **Paper 3**, I explore the consequences of the negativity expressed in legislative speeches towards SD on partisans' affective polarization towards the RRP. By combining the National-SOM survey data with legislative speech data, I find that a partisan's affective polarization towards SD increases as their in-party's rhetoric towards the RRP becomes more negative, and that this relationship remains robust even when accounting for conventional predictors of affective polarization. Overall, the findings of this dissertation suggest that party responses towards the RRP go beyond merely altering policy positions during elections. More importantly, they identify the conditions under which politicians of mainstream parties are most likely to adjust their rhetorical responses towards the RRP.

DOKUMENTDATABLAD enI SIS 61 41 21

Key words

radical-right parties, mainstream parties, legislative debates, quantitative text analysis, affective polarization

Classification system and/or index terms (if any)

Supplementary bibliographical information		Language
		English
ISSN and key title		ISBN
ISSN: 0460-0037		978-91-8104-423-2 (print)
		978-91-8104-424-9 (pdf)
Recipient's notes	Number of pages	Price
	255	
	Security classification	

I, the undersigned, being the copyright owner of the abstract of the above-mentioned dissertation, hereby grant to all reference sources the permission to publish and disseminate the abstract of the above-mentioned dissertation.

Signature ____

Date 2025-03-01

Old Foe, New Friend? Rhetorical responses of mainstream parties towards a radical right party

by Esther Mary L. Calvo



Cover illustration front: The System by Jemisa Vasquez.

© Esther Mary L. Calvo 2025

Faculty of Social Sciences, Department of Political Science

ISBN: 978-91-8104-423-2 (print) ISBN: 978-91-8104-424-9 (pdf) ISSN: 0460-0037

Printed in Sweden by Media-Tryck, Lund University, Lund 2025



Media-Tryck is a Nordic Swan Ecolabel certified provider of printed material. Read more about our environmental work at www.mediatryck.lu.se



Para sa aking pamilya

Acknowledgments

I am incredibly grateful to my supervisors, Hanna Bäck and Jonathan Polk, whose steadfast support, exceptional kindness, and patience have enabled me to reach this point. You always knew how to guide me with your gentle encouragement. Thank you for having faith in my work, especially during moments when I struggled to believe in it myself. When I began this PhD, I was struggling to find a clear direction until Hanna introduced me to affective polarization and legislative debates. Since that moment, I haven't looked back. Working alongside you and Royce has been invaluable, teaching me the ins and outs of publishing and, more importantly, how to persist through challenges. Jon, you are a walking literature review! Thank you for always being there to discuss my questions. You've been the voice of reason in my moments of self-doubt and uncertainty. I've said it before, and I'll say it again: together, you make the dream team!

During various stages of writing this dissertation, I have received invaluable feedback and help from many colleagues. I would like to extend my heartfelt thanks to Moira Nelson, Robert Klemmensen, Zoltan Fazekas, Hanna Ekström, Florence So, Alexander Ryan, and the Comparative Politics research group members. Your constructive and sharp feedback has challenged me in the best possible way, and thanks to it, this dissertation has only become stronger. Thank you also to Maiken Røed for always taking the time to respond to my emails on quantitative text methods and generously sharing code. I am also grateful to Maria Strömvik and the Swedish Network for European Studies in Political Science (SNES) for making it possible for me to attend the ICPSR Summer School through their generous funding.

I would like to express my gratitude to many people in the department. Special thanks go to my cohort: Evan Drake, Katja Garson, Nicolas Rodriguez Hedenbratt, and Matt Mignot. Although our busy PhD schedules mean we rarely see each other now (HAHA!), I will always cherish the moments we shared, like mushroom picking, playing board games, and tackling Swedish bureaucracy and housing queues. I also want to express my appreciation for my long-time officemate, Nico, for putting up with me, and for introducing me to Oskar Linnros and Kent. Pursuing this PhD has also brought me my dear friend, Jana Wrange, whose presence has added fun and laughter to my life as a PhD student—your friendship means a lot to me. I'm grateful to Joel Abdelmoez for being a constant source of endless cat memes and deep discussions about RuPaul's Drag Race and British quiz shows. My thanks also go to Barbara Magalhães Teixeira, whose conversations have reminded me that the world doesn't revolve solely around the West. I am thankful to the PhD community for the much-needed afterworks at Herbivore and Inferno! Special thanks to Hye Yoon Park and Milka Ivanovska Hadjievska for always cheering me on and sharing my passion for food and films. I also extend my thanks to Nils Droste for trusting me with the opportunity to teach a course on R. To Magdalena Bexell, for her thoughtful check-ins, which helped me adjust to the workplace during the pandemic. As a non-EU citizen, the bureaucratic challenges of staying here have been difficult to navigate. I'm thankful for Ted Svensson's support and understanding, and the help he provided throughout this process.

Relocating to a new country to start my PhD has certainly been tough, but the support of others made it feel less lonely and enjoyable. I'm very thankful for Kiel's friendship and support. Isn't it funny that we met in Budapest while pursuing our Master's and later found ourselves in Sweden for our PhDs, even though we never encountered each other at UP Diliman? And as a fun twist, through Kiel, I ended up meeting Ray, who's now a dear friend. I'd also like to express my gratitude to Ate Leah, Kuya Jörgen, and Gabo, who welcomed me with open arms and truly became family to me. I cannot express how grateful I am for your kindness. I can only hope to pay it forward and share the same warmth you've shown me. A big thank you to Gab, who was always just a call away, ready to help me with coding in R. I've learned some of my best coding practices from you! A huge thank you to Johanna, Ate Mary-bell, Ate Karla, Lui, and Ate Lucy for always being there with advice and encouragement. Special thanks to my Filipino community for reminding me of home through shared meals, conversations, and karaoke nights. To Kuya Tony, who once told me, "Tapusin mo na 'yan!" (Finish it already!). I did, and I wish you could see it. I miss you and hope you're enjoying karaoke parties up there.

I'm also grateful to my friends in the Philippines, especially Kiko, who I could always count on for statistics help! It's incredible how, despite the distance and the years that have gone by, we're able to pick up right where we left off whenever we meet.

I am immensely grateful for my parents' sacrifices, and even with the distance between us, your love has always felt close. To my brother Paulo, you were the first person I shared the news of my acceptance into the PhD program with, and you've consistently supported me through it all. To Jem-jem, who always checked on me despite the time zone difference—thank you! And, of course, to our dogs, whose absence was even harder to endure than leaving anyone else.

Lastly, to Kalle, my guiding light during the toughest times.

Malmö, March 2025

Contents

Acknowledgments	ix
List of papers	iii
Old Foe, New Friend?	1
Introduction	1
Concepts and Theories	7
Mainstream Parties and the RRP Challenger	8
Mainstream Party Strategies towards the RRP \ldots	11
Forms of Competition between Mainstream Parties and RRPs	17
Mainstream Party Strategies and Legislative Speeches	22
Affective Polarization and Party Cues	28
Research Design	35
Examining the Swedish Case	35
Structure of Debates in the Riksdag	38
Measuring Sentiment in Legislative Speeches (Paper 1)	40
Measuring Negativity in Legislative Speeches (Paper 2) \ldots	45
Affective Polarization towards SD (Paper 3)	50
Immigration Salience in Legislative Speeches (Paper 4)	53
Summary of the Papers	57
Paper 1: Debating the Populist Pariah: Changing Party Dynam-	
ics and Elite Rhetoric in the Swedish Riksdag	57
Paper 2: Aligning with the Radical Right? Examining legislative	
speeches in response to SD's electoral success \ldots \ldots	58
Paper 3: (De)polarizing Words: How elite rhetoric shapes affect-	
ive polarization towards the radical right	59
Paper 4: Talking about the Challenger's Issue: Immigration's	
Salience in Swedish parliamentary debates	60

Conclusion	63
References	67
Scientific Papers	87
Paper I: Debating the Populist Pariah: Changing Party Dynamics and	
Elite Rhetoric in the Swedish Riksdag	89
Paper II: Adapting to Radical Right Rival? Examining legislative	
speeches in response to SD's electoral success $\ldots \ldots \ldots \ldots$	103
Paper III: (De)polarizing Words: How elite rhetoric shapes affective	
polarization towards the radical right	139
Paper IV: Talking about the Challenger's Issue: Immigration's salience	
in Swedish parliamentary debates	185

List of papers

- I Debating the Populist Pariah: Changing Party Dynamics and Elite Rhetoric in the Swedish Riksdag
 Esther Mary L. Calvo, Hanna Bäck, and Royce Carroll Political Research Quarterly 77(3), pp. 950–961
- II Adapting to Radical Right Rival? Examining legislative speeches in response to SD's electoral success
 Esther Mary L. Calvo
 Revise & Resubmit in an international peer-reviewed journal
- III (De)polarizing Words: How elite rhetoric shapes affective polarization towards the radical right

Esther Mary L. Calvo Unpublished manuscript

 IV Talking about the Challenger's Issue: Immigration's salience in Swedish parliamentary debates
 Esther Mary L. Calvo
 Unpublished manuscript

Old Foe, New Friend?

The Sweden Democrats is a party not to be trusted. It is a populist party, always has been and always will be.

Stefan Löfven, 14-01-2015

1 Introduction

During a debate in 2019, the Christian Democrats' party leader, Ebba Busch, openly distanced herself and her party from the radical right party, Sweden Democrats (SD). As she has remarked, "No, I still stick to the analysis that a lot of the Sweden Democrats' policies are difficult to implement in reality and I don't share the position in a lot of their policies".¹ This statement reflected the prevailing attitude at that time, which was vocal opposition and disdain towards SD. In a later debate in 2021, she made a noticeable reversal, stating, "We are happy to reach agreements on migration with all parties in the Swedish parliament, but we share the ambition with SD to tighten it up considerably".² What initially started as a definitive dismissal of SD's policies has evolved into an open acknowledgment of issue agreements.

Statements made in legislative debates, such as the one presented above, tend

¹The original statement in Swedish was "Nej, jag håller fortfarande fast vid analysen att en hel del av sverigedemokraternas politik är svår att implementera i verkligheten och jag delar inte ståndpunkten i en hel del av deras politik."

²The original statement in Swedish was "Sedan träffar vi gärna uppgörelser bland annat om migration med alla partier i sveriges riksdag men vi delar ambitionen med SD att kraftigt strama åt den".

to go unnoticed by scholars who research how mainstream parties respond to radical right parties. This is unsurprising. Frequently cited works on the topic often focus on policy positions, meaning how policy stances of mainstream parties on immigration, law and order, and multiculturalism, begin to resemble that of the radical right (van Spanje, 2018). Grounded in Downsian spatial theory, the core insight from these studies is that mainstream parties-particularly those positioned on the right of the policy spectrum-are incentivized to realign themselves closer to the radical right in order to attract cross-pressured voters and gain a competitive edge. Consequently, these studies largely depend on party manifestos to determine whether mainstream parties pursue an accommodative, adversarial, or dismissive strategy. Some studies employ other types of data. By leveraging the ambiguity in the positions of mainstream parties towards the radical right (populist) party (RRP) and its issues in periods before elections, they conducted experimental studies to assess voter support for the radical right once mainstream parties adopt its core issue (Hjorth & Larsen, 2020; van Spanje, 2018).

While these studies offer important insights, focusing on the policy dimension presents a restricted view of competition between mainstream parties and the radical right. This perspective overlooks the reality that both types of parties compete at different dimensions and institutional contexts. Mainstream parties often compete not only by proposing alternative policies but also by emphasizing issues they are perceived to have expertise in and minimizing those on which they lack credibility (Abou-Chadi, 2014; Budge, 2015; Green-Pedersen, 2007; Meguid, 2008). Since the RRP's appeal is based on immigration and law and order issues, minimizing their importance by mainstream parties decreases its voter support. Moreover, mainstream parties can also compete with the radical right on a discursive level (Kollberg, 2023). They can adopt a rhetorical style similar to that of the radical right to attract voters or choose a demonizing discourse to portray the RRP unfavorably (Schwörer & Fernández-García, 2021). Alternatively, since the radical right is seen to have ownership of negative rhetoric, mainstream parties may opt to adopt a positive debating style to lessen the electoral gains of the radical right (Valentim & Widmann, 2021). RRPs also use anti-establishment rhetoric to undermine the comparative advantage of mainstream parties. As shown by Heinze (2022, p.345) from interviewing mainstream MPs in German state parliaments, AfD MPs in state parliaments use provocations and insults to heighten tensions in parliamentary debates, disorient mainstream party MPs, and attract media coverage.

One arena where these types of competition occur is parliament, particularly during legislative debates. Although legislatures are usually defined by both formal and informal rules and structures, legislative debates create a unique environment for competition. Certain debates attract media attention, and both parties and MPs take advantage of this chance to present their positions to voters, allies, and opponents (Proksch & Slapin, 2015). More importantly, it is during these debates that parties can shape their constituents' perceptions of their own party as well as that of their rivals. To achieve this, parties and MPs strategically adjust two key attributes of their legislative speeches. The first attribute is sentiment, which refers to the emotional content of speeches, or put simply, how parties say things (Crabtree, Golder, Gschwend & Indridason, 2020). As previous research has shown, parties modify the sentiment of their rhetoric depending on the nature of the debate, the status of the speaker's party, and the proximity of elections (Crabtree et al., 2020; Kosmidis, Hobolt, Mollov & Whitefield, 2019a; Osnabrügge, Hobolt & Rodon, 2021; Poljak & Walter, 2023; Schwalbach, 2022a; Silva, Schürmann & Proksch, 2023; Yildirim, 2024). The second attribute related to legislative speech is issue attention. As argued by Ivanusch (2024), despite constraints imposed by the legislative agenda, MPs can still go "off-topic" during their speeches and redirect the discussion to issues which they have "ownership" over. These adaptations in sentiment and issue attention in legislative speeches are what I refer to as rhetorical responses. To explore how these rhetorical responses are deployed against the radical right, this dissertation poses the following research questions:

- How do mainstream parties and MPs vary in their sentiment/negativity towards the radical right and the attention they place on immigration in their legislative speeches?
- What factors account for the differences in sentiment/negativity and focus on immigration of the radical right among mainstream parties and MPs?
- What consequences does in-party negativity have on affective polarization towards the radical right?

There are several reasons for my choice to focus on sentiment and issue at-

tention in legislative speeches. Firstly, similar to position adaptation, the tone chosen when addressing the RRP is shaped by goals related to vote-seeking and office-seeking, as such we can anticipate that the electoral performance of the radical right influences these strategic considerations (Strøm, 1990). Secondly, sentiment can be utilized by mainstream parties to reinforce their positioning goals against the radical right. In some instances, merely presenting an attractive or adversarial policy position is insufficient to regain voters from the RRP. Voters also evaluate parties based on character and valence-based dimensions (Bjarnøe, Adams & Boydstun, 2023). Following this, parties such as those on the left may strategically opt for valence-based attacks often through a negative tone in their speeches. Thirdly, regarding issue attention, deciding to address an issue often precedes taking a position on the policy dimension of the RRP. Earlier studies tend to assume this step when studying policy shifts. Finally, sentiment in legislative speeches can tell a different story of the mainstream party's relationship with the radical right. Even though an analysis of party manifestos may indicate issue alignment between the mainstream party and the radical right on immigration or multiculturalism, the statements directed at the latter may still exhibit a confrontational tone. As van Spanje (2018) suggests, it is entirely possible and even electorally beneficial for mainstream parties to imitate the pariah party's issue while simultaneously adopting an adversarial strategy.

By focusing on these aspects of legislative speeches, this dissertation makes the following contributions. First, it reveals how mainstream parties talk about the radical right. Only a few studies (e.g., Schwörer and Fernández-García, 2021, Bantel, 2023b) have directly examined how mainstream parties strategically use language that conveys specific emotions when addressing the RRP. While some studies have tackled how mainstream parties differentiate themselves or imitate the rhetorical style of the RRPs, they have not focused specifically on statements aimed at the radical right (Kollberg, 2023; Valentim & Widmann, 2021). In Paper 1, co-authored with Hanna Bäck and Royce Carroll, we argue that the sentiment reflected in speeches aimed at the SD can be used by mainstream parties to distance themselves from the radical right. However, we also observe this negativity reducing among center-right parties over time, suggesting that it can be adapted as prospects for cooperation grow. The second contribution of this dissertation is highlighting how the electoral success of the RRP makes dismissive and adversarial strategies challenging to sustain. When faced with the choice between achieving electoral ambitions and meeting normative duties, the former often prevails (Bale, Green-Pedersen, Krouwel, Luther & Sitter, 2010; W. M. Downs, 2012). Paper 1 demonstrates that some center-right parties started adopting a more positive tone toward SD over time. Considering how the RRP is a more likely potential coalition partner for center-right parties than center-left ones, it is not unexpected that they have stronger motivations to soften their tone as the RRP attracts more voters (Abou-Chadi, Cohen & Wagner, 2022). Paper 2 shows that this difference in response to the RRP exists: speeches aimed at SD are more conciliatory in tone when the RRP's relative performance improves in the district of center-right MPs. Additionally, Paper 4 shows that when SD improves its poll performance, mainstream party MPs are more likely to engage with its defining issue.

The third contribution of this dissertation is theoretical, providing additional insights into the factors that determine affective polarization. I draw on the literature regarding party cues to argue that uncivil elite rhetoric is linked with partisans' affective evaluations of the radical right. So far, only a few studies have examined the role of elite communication on how partisans feel about the radical right, even though one might assume that the two are naturally correlated. Paper 3 examines this relationship and demonstrates an association between a partisan's affective polarization towards SD and the negativity of the individual's in-party.

This dissertation makes an empirical contribution by leveraging legislative speeches as data. To examine their emotional quality and focus on issues, I implemented various quantitative text methods and connected the results with meta-data about MPs, electoral results, and mass-survey data. Paper 1 used a dictionary-based approach to assess the sentiment of speeches aimed at SD. In Paper 2, I augmented an off-the-shelf sentiment lexicon using word embeddings techniques, making the dictionary more effective in capturing the negative language present in legislative speeches. Paper 3 connected the results from the sentiment analysis using the augmented dictionary with the National-SOM data. Paper 4 used a dictionary approach alongside structural topic models to analyze the extent mainstream parties address the issue of immigration in their legislative speeches.

Together, the papers in this dissertation illustrate that competition between mainstream parties and RRPs extends beyond election campaigns and policy considerations. Rhetorical responses are dynamic and closely linked with party goals and the electoral performance of the RRP. Moreover, when the radical right becomes "too big and too entrenched", it becomes challenging for mainstream parties to remain committed to isolationist strategies and resist incorporating issues that originally motivated the radical right's party status. Additionally, the interaction between mainstream party elites and the radical right has downstream effects on how voters affectively perceive the RRP. As demonstrated in Paper 3, voters' affective polarization toward the radical right can shift, highlighting the crucial role of mainstream party elites, whose actions can either fuel affective polarization towards the RRP or contribute to its legitimization (Bantel, 2023b).

This kappa is structured as follows. In the following section, I define what I mean by mainstream parties and radical right parties. This is followed by a discussion on the responses available to mainstream parties identified in the literature to respond to the radical right challenge. After this, I discuss the two prevailing approaches to studying the competition between these two rivals. Afterwards, I justify why examining the parliament setting is important and how this institutional setting constrains the responses of mainstream parties but still provides opportunities to engage in rhetorical and issue competition using rhetorical responses. I then end section 2 with the downstream effects of this interaction on the affective evaluations of the radical right. The third section of this kappa is where I justify my case selection and describe briefly the structure of debates in the Swedish parliament, the Riksdag. This is also where I detail my data collection process for each paper, the quantitative methods I have used, and statistical analyses for each paper. These also include reflections during the process of my data collection. The third section provides an overview of the four papers which comprise this dissertation. Finally, in the last section, I discuss the insights from the findings of this dissertation as well as aspirations and suggestions for future research.

2 Concepts and Theories

During a debate regarding the Committee on Labor Market's report on equality and integration, the Left Party MP, Rossana Dinamarca, began her speech with "Åhörare!" (listeners), instead of the customary greeting "Herr Talman!" (Mr. Speaker). This refusal was unlikely to be coincidental, especially considering that, at that time, it was Björn Söder from SD, who was acting as deputy Speaker in the debate. When he pointed out to Dinamarca that one addresses the Speaker in legislative speeches, her response was "You are not my Speaker" (TV4 Nyheterna, 2014). This, of course, did not go unnoticed by the media.

Such clear displays of objection raises important questions. How is a mainstream party's choice of strategy adapted and manifested in the context of parliament, particularly in debates? What kind of tone is used by mainstream parties in their verbal exchanges with RRP politicians when they take on an accommodative or adversarial approach? And what are the consequences of such strategic use of emotive language on how partians perceive the radical right? These are the questions I aim to answer in this section of the kappa. To do so, I draw from distinct bodies of literature. From studies on mainstream parties responses, we learn that parties are driven primarily by votes and officeseeking goals, and that they a have wide range of tactics at their disposal to confront the radical right challenge. Meanwhile, institutional approaches to legislative debates suggest that speeches can be electoral assets, that is either reflective of party positions, or sometimes individual stances on a particular issue. Moreover, recent studies on legislative speechmaking, suggest that emotive language and issue focus are strategically used by MPs and are impacted by external factors, such as the entry of new party challengers and crises. Finally, the insights from affective polarization and party cue literature demonstrate how interactions between mainstream party and RRP elites have a downstream effect on partisans' behavior. Together, these perspectives allow me to conceptualize what I call "rhetorical responses", and demonstrate how they are effectively used by mainstream parties to meet the challenge of the radical right in legislative debates.

2.1 Mainstream Parties and the RRP Challenger

Throughout this dissertation, I will refer to mainstream parties and RRPs. In this sub-section, I clarify what I mean by these two terms. Beginning with mainstream parties, W. M. Downs (2001, p.26) refers to them as "existing moderate parties" which, in contrast with pariah or extremist parties, are typically included in government coalitions. Akkerman and Rooduijn (2015), Meguid (2005), and De Vries and Hobolt (2020) define them as political parties that are electorally dominant in the center-left and center-right blocs, characterized by their governmental experience and centrist positions in the socio-economic dimension. Green-Pedersen (2019) differentiates mainstream parties from niche parties by describing the former as having a broader issue focus. In contrast, van Spanje (2010, p.582) prefers the term "established parties", referring to those which have "existed before the rise of anti-immigration parties in Western Europe in the end of the 1970s". In this dissertation, I adopt a broad definition and consider parties of center-left and center-right which are typically involved in coalition politics as mainstream (Calvo, Bäck & Carroll, 2024).

Though widely studied, we still see adjectives, such as "extreme" and "radical", used interchangeably to describe radical right parties. Other scholars have resorted to alternative labels, such as "far", "anti-immigration", "new right", "pariah", and "niche".³ But as Norris (2005) points out, these labels are problematic because they imply certain preconceptions of the ideology and policy programs of these parties. Among the multitude of names, one thing is clear: a "terminology confusion" still exists, stressing the need to revisit its definition.

RRPs, together with extreme right parties, belong to the broader party family of the far right. Despite having many commonalities, these two groups differ in their relationship with Western democracy (Mudde, 2010). Extreme parties are opposed to pluralist democracy, and are likely to resort to violent and terrorist

³Niche party is a broader term that can be applied to communist, green, anti-immigration, and ethnoterritorial parties (Meguid, 2008). These parties emerged around a particular policy issue, such as the environment, immigration, and animal rights (Green-Pedersen, 2019). A pariah party is systematically excluded by established parties (van Spanje & de Graaf, 2018). For W. M. Downs (2012), the label "pariah" is used to describe extremist, radical and nationalpopulist parties, regardless if they emerge from the left or right end of the political spectrum. They are characterized by their opposition to immigration, the establishment or the EU, as such they are regarded as "beyond the pale" by their mainstream rivals. For a more extensive discussion on pariah parties, see W. M. Downs (2012).

acts (Norris, 2005; Widfeldt, 2004). Examples of parties which belong to this group are the Fatherland Party in Norway, the National Democratic Party of Austria, the British National Front, and the German National Democratic Party.

RRPs differ in the sense that they support, or at least they claim to do so, procedural democracy, but reject its liberal elements, such as protection of minority rights and the rule of law (Mudde, 2010). These more successful parties have no desire to return to "pre-democratic, dictatorial political orders" (Minkenberg, 2013, p.10). Unlike extreme parties, RRPs are democratic, which, according to Widfeldt (2004), complicates justifying efforts of isolating them.

The electoral success of the RRP in post-War Europe occurred in phases (Mudde, 2019). The first group which emerged after the Second World War were groups that operated in the fringes and remained loval to the old fascist cause (Norris, 2005). The second wave ushered in a new kind of radical right party, one that abandoned the disreputable neo-fascist ideology of their predecessors. The most important parties that emerged during this wave can be described as more neo-liberal populist, i.e., a mix of economic liberalism and opportunistic politics (Mudde, 2007). An example is the Danish Progress Party, which initially protested against high taxes and big government, and was later succeeded by the Danish People's Party (Christiansen, 2016). It was in the third wave where we witnessed the resurgence of the radical right. In this same period, RRPs like Vlaams Blok (currently known as Vlaams Belang) gained national representation, and support for the radical right revitalized, making them a familiar presence in most European countries (Norris, 2005). The fourth and current wave began in the 2000s. During this wave, the radical right has become more acceptable, managing to set foot into national parliaments of countries where they previously experienced resistance and turning into influential players in government formation. Some parties, such as the Freedom Party of Austria and the Swiss People's Party were included in coalition governments, while Fidesz in Hungary and the Law and Justice in Poland were able to secure majorities in their respective countries (Mudde, 2019).

There are three features which are shared by the RRPs of the present wave. The first and most defining feature is nativism, a belief that the nation-state should be exclusive for its native inhabitants. The ideal society for the RRP is a homogeneous state, one where the native's culture is to be the prevailing way of life. For these parties, the ultimate threat to this vision is immigration. Moreover, RRPs insist on cultural assimilation, however they hold the belief that certain cultures and belief systems are fundamentally incompatible with Western values (Mudde, 2019).

Another feature of RRPs is authoritarianism. It is the desire for a strictly ordered society, where deviations from the law and social norms are to be met with harsher punitive measures (e.g., longer sentences, re-introduction of death penalty). RRPs are passionate supporters of tougher punishments on crime, increased policing, and the re-inclusion of traditional moral values in school instruction. The authoritarianism of RRPs has nativist elements in them, too. They attribute rising crime rates to mass immigration, and choose to selectively focus on crimes committed by non-natives (Mudde, 2019). The typical narrative employed by the radical right is that crime is widespread because of the lenient policies of the political establishment.

Lastly, some scholars describe the radical right as populist. Populism can be conceived as a political style or as an ideology. When considered as the latter, it divides society into two conflicting, homogeneous groups: the "pure" people versus the "corrupt" elite (Mudde, 2019). Typically, who is considered as part of the people is bounded by a certain criteria of culture and ethnicity. By asserting the "general will" of the people–which may conflict with minority rights–populist radical right parties undermine liberal democracy.

 Table 1. The ideological features of the far right party family based on Golder (2016, p.482). While not all parties within this broad group are characterized by nationalism and populism, an increasing number display the combination of radicalism, populism, and nationalism.

	Ideological features			
Type	Radicalism	Populism	Nationalism	Anti-democratic
Radical right	\checkmark	\checkmark	\checkmark	
Extreme right		\checkmark	\checkmark	\checkmark

To summarize, the far right consists of parties which are either extremist or radical. These two broad groups have fundamentally opposing views of democracy. The former completely rejects the notion of democracy, while the latter claims to be in favor of procedural democracy but challenges its liberal elements. One important thing to note is that not all far right parties are populists or nativists (see Table 1). Far right parties, however, may incorporate one or combinations of these traits across various stages in their development. For instance, the Norwegian Progress Party, founded in 1973, began as an anti-tax party but later on adopted populism in the 1990s (Mudde, 2019). But since the 1990s, nativism, populism, and radicalism have emerged as the primary features of RRPs (Golder, 2016).

2.2 Mainstream Party Strategies towards the RRP

Despite the shift to tougher immigration and integration policies, the Danish Social Democrats suffered an unexpected defeat in the 2015 general elections (Crouch & Eriksen, 2015). In contrast, the Danish People's Party (DPP) experienced an increase in electoral support, almost doubling its vote share from 12% to 21%. The tides turned for the Social Democrats in the following 2019 general elections, where they ended up as the largest political party, while the DPP lost almost half of its votes (The Economist, 2019). The reversal of electoral fortunes for these two parties raises the question whether the Danish Social Democrats' winning electoral strategy, that is the shift to restrictive immigration policies, contributed to the subsequent decline of the DPP. This sub-section seeks to answer the following questions. What are the variety of ways mainstream parties respond to the RRP challenge? What are the motivations that underlie mainstream parties' choice of strategy?

To address these questions, it is necessary to consider the nature of the competition between mainstream parties and RRPs. Meguid (2005; 2008) describes it as a competition of unequals, in which mainstream parties face a newcomer whose appeal to voters is primarily drawn on the novelty of its single issue. This newly introduced issue, according to De Vries and Hobolt (2020, p.55), does not neatly fit within the dominant left-right dimension, as such "it may have the potential to internally split dominant parties". Take, for instance, social democratic parties, which struggle when confronted with the immigration question, largely because "[they] are divided between working-class, anti-immigration supporters and middle-class, pro-immigration voters" (Johnston & Sprong, 2022, p.349).

In this scenario, mainstream parties have a repertoire of strategies to counter the RRP. W. M. Downs (2001, 2002, 2012) identifies two strategy choices for mainstream parties: engage or disengage. These two have been referred to differently in other studies as ostracize and not ostracize (van Spanje & Van Der Brug, 2007), and marginalization and accommodation (Widfeldt, 2004). Bale et al. (2010) expands the choices into hold, defuse, and accommodate. Likewise, Meguid (2005, 2008) proposes three options, which are dismiss, adversarial, and accommodative, whereas Mudde (2019) identifies four strategies, which are demarcation, confrontation, co-optation, and incorporation. So far, W. M. Downs (2001, 2002, 2012) and Heinze (2018) have been the most extensive, identifying a wide variety of responses available to mainstream parties. To simplify these options, I draw on the typology developed by Meguid (2005, 2008) since they are broad enough to encompass more specific non-programmatic tactics.

One way of dealing with the radical right is to deliberately ignore, or dismiss the party and its core issue. The aim of this "do nothing" approach is to delegitimize the RRP and its agenda, in the hope that its allure will wane over time. Mainstream parties choosing not to have a position on the issue dimension of the RRP or diverting the attention of voters to the issues which they traditionally own is a clear example of this. A further instance of this strategy is when mainstream parties avoid engaging with the radical right in a debate over immigration.

How effective this strategy is remains disputed. For Meguid (2005, 2008), the choice to dismiss the RRP involves low risk and reduces the salience of the radical right's issue, leading to its vote loss. W. M. Downs (2001) thinks otherwise because ignoring the RRP disregards what voters are signaling by choosing the radical right. Failure to address the source of disaffection can only lead to further vote loss to the RRP.

Alternatively, mainstream parties can choose an adversarial approach, which means that they clearly express their objection to the radical right's policy stance by creating legal restrictions (e.g., bans, raising electoral thresholds), or by uniting as grand coalitions to deprive the RRP from any influence in government and policy-making. It entails systematically ostracizing the radical right, effectively turning it into a pariah party (W. M. Downs, 2002; van Spanje, 2018). One clear example of this is the collective agreement formed by Belgian mainstream parties that ruled out any form of cooperation with the former Vlaams Blok (van Haute & Pauwels, 2016). The effectiveness of ostracizing the radical right in reducing its electoral appeal has also been questioned in the literature. Depriving the RRP a voice in politics undoubtedly fulfills some sense of moral duty to defend the institutions of liberal democracy from "intolerant parties", but it also makes the RRP even more attractive to their supporters, as it reinforces their image of being political underdogs. This is best articulated by Harris (1994, p.209), when he says that "you do not want to turn the RRP into professional martyrs, presenting the other mainstream parties as authoritarian and intolerant". Moreover, scholars like van Spanje and Van Der Brug (2007) observe that ostracized anti-immigration parties continue to hold extreme views as opposed to those that were not. Their belief is that coalition prospects incentivize anti-immigration parties to soften their view towards other parties and immigration. Meguid (2005, 2008) is also convinced that an adversarial treatment would only boost the issue ownership of the radical right, thus increasing public support for the RRP.

Other scholars consider it an unsustainable approach. The risk with forming alliances against the radical right is that there is very little that unites mainstream parties parties, except a common enemy (W. M. Downs, 2001). Furthermore, it artificially limits the choices of mainstream parties in forming a government, forcing themselves to construct broad, impractical coalitions, for the sake of maintaining the cordon sanitaire (Bale, 2003). Akkerman and Rooduijn (2015), however, think that the concern that ostracism leads to further radicalization of the RRP is unfounded. For instance, they did not find evidence for moderation in policy positions among non-ostracized parties that entered national office. They attribute this finding to the RRP's lack of incentives for de-radicalization, since maintaining their distinct position is electorally lucrative.

The opposite of the adversarial approach is the accommodative strategy. These can vary from adopting the issue of the RRP, temporary alliances in the form of voting with the radical right in certain pieces of legislation, agreeing to govern in a coalition, to agreeing to a minority government that is supported by the radical right. As Bichay (2024) argues, involving RRPs in coalition governments makes it difficult for them to continue with their strategy of antiestablishment rhetoric, as they cannot attack and criticize a government they are a part of. To give an example, the Freedom Party of Austria was never formally ostracized by its largest competitor, the Austrian People's Party. The latter even formed a national coalition with FPÖ in 2000, until it split (van Spanje, 2018).

Accommodation also occurs beyond coalitions. It can also be visible in the direction of the policy positions of mainstream parties on immigration and multiculturalism. For instance, Han (2015), Abou-Chadi and Krause (2020), and van Spanje (2010) demonstrate that mainstream parties shift to stricter immigration and more culturally protectionist positions in response to RRP electoral success. The logic of co-opting the RRP's policy, according to Bale et al. (2010, p.413), is "if you cannot beat them, join them". For Meguid (2005, 2008), this strategy breaks the RRP's monopoly over the issue and provides voters with an anti-immigration stance a credible alternative. Because of their legislative experience and governmental effectiveness, voters tend to prefer mainstream parties over new parties in implementing an issue which they attach personal importance to.

However, the electoral benefits of the accommodative approach remains debated in the literature. Using the Danish case, Hjorth and Larsen (2020) demonstrate that an accommodative strategy by a social democratic party benefits the overall left due to progressive voters transferring to parties that are further left on immigration. Moreover, Hjorth, Nyrup and Larsen (2020) find that involvement of challenger parties in local governments increases the likelihood of these parties choosing moderate positions in issues. Additionally, Chou, Dancygier, Egami and Jamal (2021) observe that when mainstream parties move closer to the position of the radical right, the vote share for the RRP diminishes. In contrast, Krause, Cohen and Abou-Chadi (2023) are skeptical of any electoral rewards brought about by co-optation. They find that having such a strategy only leads to further defection to the radical right. Repositioning towards stricter immigration laws is also viewed to be counter-productive by Lewandowsky and Wagner (2023) since having populist attitudes makes Alternative for Germany voters inaccessible to mainstream parties.

Aside from its effectiveness not being guaranteed, accommodative responses put mainstream parties at risk of appearing as political sellouts to their core supporters (W. M. Downs, 2001). van Spanje and de Graaf (2018) and van Spanje (2018) also doubt that imitating the issue alone works, insisting that it has to be coupled with ostracizing the RRP for mainstream parties to electorally gain from such a strategy. To elaborate, they argue that "parroting the pariah" by itself is not sufficient to diminish the RRP's electoral support, as they still retain the ability to implement their policies. Similarly, ostracism alone is also inadequate, as an isolated yet popular RRP could signal that there is an adequate level of public support for its issue, motivating voters to openly express their preference for the RRP (Valentim, 2021a).

Why do mainstream parties choose a certain response over another? To answer this question, it is important to understand what motivates political parties. Taking inspiration from Strøm (1990), I assume that the choices of political parties are driven by votes, office, and policy desires, which may sometimes come into conflict with each other. Parties prioritize winning votes in elections, because doing so increases their chances of being in government, which enables them to implement their policies. Certainly, the motivations of a political party are not limited to these three, nevertheless the findings from studies on party responses suggest that vote and office-seeking desires often outweigh other considerations. As Bale et al. (2010, p.68) observe in their study on social democratic parties' strategic options, "when faced with the trade off between democratic responsibility and electoral ambitions, the latter is proving to be more powerful than the former".

Electoral and office ambitions heavily weigh into the decision of political parties on which strategy to choose. These goals are put to risk when the RRP's size grows and when the mainstream party loses more votes to the radical right relative to its other rivals (Meguid, 2008). Bale et al. (2010), for instance, argue that a decisive factor for social democratic parties to adopt an accommodative strategy is vote loss to the RRP, whose electoral success enhances the chances of a center-right bloc gaining office. Likewise, Han (2015) finds evidence that mainstream parties align their policies on immigration with the RRP when the electoral success of the radical right is coupled with their underperformance relative to a primary main rival. Thus, what pushes mainstream parties to react to the RRP is electoral self-preservation. Meguid (2008) outlines scenarios that illustrate how electoral self-preservation guides the choice of response of mainstream parties, and their interactions with other parties, which, in turn, vary in their effect on the electoral outcome for the RRP. In a situation where the radical right does not pull many votes from mainstream parties, they will remain indifferent to the RRP's issue, and opt for dismissive tactics. However, in the case where one mainstream party suffers heavy losses to the RRP relative to another mainstream competitor, it will pursue an accommodative strategy as a way to recover lost voters. Meanwhile, the less affected mainstream competitor opts for an adversarial strategy. As predicted by Meguid (2008), this maneuver reinforces the issue ownership of the RRP, and as a result, it undermines the effectiveness of the disadvantaged mainstream rival's co-optation strategy. The final scenario has both mainstream parties threatened by the RRP. Under these circumstances, the mainstream parties are expected to pursue a joint accommodative strategy. By doing so, they acknowledge the demand for the RRP's issue and position themselves closer to the RRP, thus challenging its ownership over it.⁴

The following are other factors that influence the decision of mainstream parties on which response to choose. I address them briefly below.

- Electoral rules. The threat of the RRP is argued to be contingent on the electoral rules that exist in a country. Certain types of electoral systems make mainstream parties more sensitive to vote loss. W. M. Downs (2012, p.66), for instance, argues that plurality-based systems offer a "strategic buffer", and allows mainstream parties to ignore the the RRP and its issue. Similarly, PR systems with high thresholds and vote-seat proportionality make mainstream parties more resilient towards vote loss (Meguid, 2008). However, in systems where entry barriers and vote-seat proportionality are low, dismissive strategies will be uncommon.
- **Democratic responsibility**. Mainstream parties may also be motivated by normative and political duties, such as defending democracy (Capoccia, 2001). Those particularly coming from countries with a previous experience of a challenger party using liberal institutions and processes against democratic order often employ tools within the boundaries of the law to combat the pariah party (W. M. Downs, 2012).
- *Ideology and history of the RRP*. Unlike RRPs with historical links to an old fascist party, those which originated as anti-tax parties and later

⁴See Meguid (2005; 2008) for further details on the predicted effects of mainstream party strategies on niche party electoral support.

on became anti-immigration parties are less likely to be ostracized (van Spanje, 2010). Mainstream parties may find it easier to justify working with a RRP as not violating social norms to their core supporters if the radical right possesses a reputational shield (Ivarsflaten, 2006).

- **Previous commitments.** These can hinder mainstream parties from dropping sub-optimal strategies towards the RRP. Once parties have committed to a dismissive strategy, it becomes complicated to shift to a more accommodative one without being seen as unprincipled or policy inconsistent. The scenario where mainstream parties become prisoners of their previous decisions is what Meguid (2008) calls reputational constraints. As an example, Backlund (2020) argues that the cordon sanitaire imposed by Swedish mainstream parties against SD became institutionalized in the sense that a rival party would invoke another party's previous decision as a means to portray it as inconsistent with its normative commitments.
- Organizational structure. Organizational structure of mainstream parties may also contribute to the delay in choosing a more optimal course of action. Mainstream party leaders who need to secure the approval of their members, who may potentially possess diverging perspectives on the direction of the party's strategy, are much more limited in which responses they can employ. When this is the case, the party often resorts to low cost, uncontroversial strategies than accommodative ones (Meguid, 2008). Furthermore, a change in party leadership or dominant faction may also contribute to making a particular strategy towards the RRP more acceptable (Backlund, 2020).

2.3 Forms of Competition between Mainstream Parties and RRPs

Having identified the strategies that mainstream parties can employ to compete against the RRP threat, I now turn to the two approaches used to explain competition between these two parties: spatial theory and issue competition. The spatial approach to party competition is based on Anthony Downs' (1957) seminal work. It assumes that political parties are motivated by office-seeking desires and that voters are "policy-oriented", which means that they choose a political party that offers policies closest to what they prefer (Grofman, 2004). Consequently, political parties will locate their positions on a single policy dimension where there is least distance between themselves and the voters.⁵ To illustrate, assume a scenario that is similar to Figure 1, where V1 and V2 denote voters, and A and B represent parties. They are all located on the right area of the continuum, but party B and voter V2 exhibit more right-wing tendencies. According to the spatial model, party A will shift closer to party B, and by doing so, it attracts V1 and all those to its left.⁶ Based on this logic, it is reasonable to assume that if the RRP performs well in a particular election, political parties located on the right of the continuum, such as conservative and moderate right-wing parties, should be incentivized to locate themselves closer to the RRP on immigration to prevent it from attracting more voters or gaining more advantage in subsequent elections (Abou-Chadi, 2014; van Spanje, 2010). By doing so, mainstream parties challenge the RRP's issue ownership over immigration, which loses its electoral appeal as voters are drawn to the extensive government experience of mainstream parties (Meguid, 2008).



Figure 1: A scenario with two parties and two voters, where party A moves closer to party B on the policy dimension. Based on van Spanje (2018).

The spatial approach to party competition has been the primary method studying responses of mainstream parties to RRPs. As seen in Table 2, most of the research has focused on how the electoral success of the radical right affects the positions of mainstream parties on immigration and multiculturalism. Other studies have also explored how co-optation of restrictive immigration policies by mainstream parties are effective in winning back voters from the radical right. But as Lewandowsky and Wagner (2023) point out, strategic repositioning of established parties are ineffective in convincing radical right voters who exhibit strong populist attitudes to defect from the RRP.

 $^{{}^{5}}$ In this setting, a voter is equally likely to support either party when their policy offerings are not too different from each other.

⁶Assuming that voter preferences are normally distributed.

Table 2. Overview of studies. This is not exhaustive of all the studies on party responses towards the RRP and only includes those that I am aware of that specifically focused on policy positions. The Comparative Manifesto Project (CMP) collects party manifestos from over 50 countries and classifies quasi-sentences from the manifestos into major issue categories. The Chapel Hill Expert Survey (CHES) tracks the policy positions of political parties from EU member states, as well as from the Western Balkans, Norway, Switzerland, and Turkey on a range of policy issues (Jolly et al., 2022).

Study	Data	Focus
Meguid (2005, 2008)	СМР	Type of mainstream party re- sponse to niche parties and its effect on niche party electoral success
van Spanje (2010)	Expert survey	Shift in party position on im- migration due to pariah party electoral pressure
Han (2015)	CMP & CHES	Shift in party position on multi-culturalism, inter- gation of immigrants and asylum-seekers due to RRP electoral threat
Abou-Chadi (2014)	CMP	Strictness in multi- culturalism stance due to electoral threat from RRP
Abou-Chadi and Krause (2020)	СМР	Shift in party position on multi-culturalism due to RRP electoral success
van Spanje (2018); van Spanje and de Graaf (2018)	СМР	Effect of co-opting a pariah party's key policy and ostra- cism on its electoral support
Chou et al. (2021)	Conjoint experiment	Effect of accommodation by mainstream parties on RRP voters' PTV for the RRP
Hjorth and Larsen (2020)	Survey experiment	Effect of accommodation by a social democratic party on PTV for the left bloc
Krause et al. (2023)	MARPOR project	Effect of accommodation by mainstream parties on RRP electoral support

Aside from altering policy positions, another way which parties compete for votes is by selectively emphasizing issues in which they are perceived by voters to be competent and avoiding issues which provide advantage to a rival during election campaigns (Green & Hobolt, 2008; Green-Pedersen, 2019).⁷ Based on

 $^{^{7}}$ Competence refers to how much voters trust political parties to deliver policies (De Vries &

this logic, if inflation is identified as one of the most pressing social concerns, then there should be a general tendency to prefer conservative parties as they are commonly perceived as better at managing the economy. Conversely, if issues relating to the welfare state and redistribution are salient in a particular election period, then left-wing parties should expect an improvement in their performance.

One way for RRPs to challenge the comparative advantage of mainstream parties is to engage in a strategy such as issue entrepreneurship. This involves challenger parties raising previously ignored issues that cannot be neatly integrated within the traditional left-right dimension of conflict (Hobolt & De Vries, 2015). Consequently, mainstream parties steer clear of these issues because they risk causing internal division, alienating a segment of their voter base, or upsetting traditional coalition allies. One example of an issue which mainstream parties avoid is immigration. As mentioned in the previous section, immigration poses a difficulty to social democratic parties that often face the dilemma of trying to appease their traditional working-class voter base, who is more skeptical of immigration, while maintaining the support of their more cosmopolitan middle-class voters (Abou-Chadi & Wagner, 2020). Center-right parties also face this predicament: conservative parties historically have strong ties with business groups that tend to support globalization and economic migration, while Christian Democrats have links with religious groups that advocate for the protection of newcomers, however, these parties also emphasize nationalism and communalism which may be at odds with the ideals of their traditional support groups (Abou-Chadi et al., 2022; Akkerman, 2015; Hadj Abdou, Bale & Geddes, 2022).

RRPs actively mobilize immigration not only because it is an issue of ideological and political importance, but as importantly, it provides them with a distinct electoral advantage. Being the "first-mover", according to De Vries and Hobolt (2020), allows the RRP to have monopoly over the issue for some time. By being regarded as the original proponent of the issue, the RRP improves its electoral standing and coalition potential when its core issue, immigration, becomes prominent on the political agenda (Budge, 2015). For instance, Hutter

Hobolt, 2020).

and Kriesi (2022) observe that "new radical right upstarts" benefited from the heightened salience of immigration during the 2015 refugee crisis compared to more established RRPs.

Though issue entrepreneurship helps us understand the incentives of RRPs to promote their core issue, it does not explain why mainstream parties would choose to pay attention to it. As De Vries and Hobolt (2020) argue, keeping party competition within the left-right dimension is in the best interest of mainstream parties, given that it forms the basis of their dominance over challenger parties like the RRP. Some studies point to changes in socio-economic structures, external crisis events, and a growing public sentiment against immigration and asylum as the primary causes of politicization of immigration by mainstream parties (Gessler & Hunger, 2022; Grande, Schwarzbözl & Fatke, 2019; Green-Pedersen & Otjes, 2019). However, the findings on the effects of these objective factors are mixed. For instance, Hadj Abdou et al. (2022) argue that the influence of the 2015 refugee crisis on party politics was short-lived, and that it did not cause a shift to more negative attitudes to immigration. Moreover, Dancygier and Margalit (2020) observe that, despite the large influx of immigrants experienced by Western Europe in the 70s and 80s, immigration remained a minor issue in election programs of political parties.

Other studies suggest that it is the electoral pressure from the RRP that contributed to the renewed interest of mainstream parties in immigration, although the mechanisms behind the effect of RRP electoral success vary (Green-Pedersen & Otjes, 2019; Johnston & Sprong, 2022). First, mainstream parties may choose to engage in immigration to neutralize the threat from the RRP. By highlighting the same issue, mainstream parties signals to policy-oriented voters that they are responsive to their concerns. Given their extensive government and legislative experience, policy-oriented voters are more likely to prefer mainstream parties over RRPs (Meguid, 2008). Second, mainstream parties do it as a strategy to maximize vote- and office-seeking opportunities. As Green-Pedersen (2019) notes, if forming a coalition with socio-liberal parties proves not to be the winning strategy for certain mainstream right parties, they can turn to the electorally successful RRP, which enables them to focus on immigration that they previously avoided. Moreover, Abou-Chadi (2014) argues that center-right and conservative parties have more to gain from emphasizing immigration, as it
draws cross-pressured, left authoritarian voters who have traditionally supported left-wing parties. Third, the growing strength of RRPs drives mainstream left parties to emphasize immigration in their platforms and statements, but primarily to defend it. As observed by Johnston and Sprong (2022), MPs from the Dutch Green party were more inclined to address immigration in their speeches as a response to the improved performance of the RRPs.

Some scholars are wary of the impact of RRP electoral success on the decision of mainstream parties to focus on immigration (Hadj Abdou et al., 2022; Kortmann & Stecker, 2019; Meyer & Rosenberger, 2015). Despite their increasing popularity, the association of some RRPs with the historical extreme right deprives them of gravitas, as a result, their credibility and perspectives on issues are frequently dismissed or not given too much weight (Ivarsflaten, 2006). However, a mainstream rival is not burdened by such problematic origins, as such, addressing immigration as a response to a main rival's introduction of the issue, can easily be justified to the electorate and does not cause concern among mainstream politicians that they are breaking social norms.

2.4 Mainstream Party Strategies and Legislative Speeches

As shown in the previous section, most of the earlier research on party responses focuses on assessing policy proximity with the RRP on the issue of immigration and multiculturalism, and how radical right electoral success is related to increased emphasis on immigration by mainstream parties. What is common among these studies is that they concentrate on strategic options available to mainstream parties during electoral campaigns, and rely on party manifestos or expert surveys as data. However, as seen in Table 3, responding to the RRP challenge is not limited to just co-opting the radical right's policy preferences. Instead, mainstream parties can draw from a broad range of tactics, depending on the institutional setting of party competition.

One institutional setting which has remained largely overlooked in previous research is the legislative arena (Heinze, 2022). Yet, examining it is important for the following reasons. First, as Capoccia (2001, p.433) argues, "parliament is the main arena where political majorities are formed to support measures against extremists, whether this means passing special legislation or simply backing the executive in its measures against extremists". Legislatures can grant powers to governments by passing legislation that permits the temporary ban or suspension of organizations considered threatening to the core institutions of democracy. Second, parliament is the same arena where the radical right can actively contest the dominance of mainstream parties. Unlike mainstream parties, it is not in the immediate interest of RRPs to be in government (De Vries & Hobolt, 2020). Because of this, they are not burdened by expectations from their party leaders to "defend compromises, speak about a specific bill, coordinate with coalition partners, or present credible policy alternatives" (Kollberg, 2023, p.46). This, in turn, allows legislators to deviate from the current issue being debated and emphasize another, and engage in anti-establishment rhetoric without suffering too much costs. Third, during election campaigns, contact between mainstream and radical right politicians is quite limited, often restricted to media appearances in election debates or indirect interactions through social media. Because of this, mainstream parties do not know what to expect from radical right representatives or how they will behave once they are elected into parliament. In the legislative setting, direct interaction with the radical right becomes unavoidable, thus necessitating mainstream politicians to become actually acquainted with RRP rivals and reconsider their initial strategies. Finally, legislatures, with their institutional rules and structures, limit the range of strategies that mainstream parties can implement to compete against the radical right (Schwalbach, 2022b). Once the radical right has successfully entered parliament, some tactics previously employed during election campaigns are inapplicable (Heinze, 2022). If the RRP could be completely ignored before, it can no longer be disregarded once it is represented in parliament, as each RRP legislator is now granted parliamentary privileges and rights (Heinze, 2022). For instance, an elected representative from the RRP has the right to ask interpellation questions to a government minister, file motions, become members or leaders of committees, and even be nominated as the speaker, which makes it challenging to avoid interacting with representatives from the radical right.

Parliamentary responses to the RRP can occur at the formal and policy levels (Heinze, 2022). Response options at the formal level involve the decision on whether, and to what extent to collaborate or not with the RRP in daily legislative functions. This includes exclusion, ad-hoc toleration, and legislative

Table 3.	examples of behavioral outcomes corresponding to mainstream party strategies in different are	nas.
	Based on Meguid (2005), W. M. Downs (2012), Heinze (2018; 2022), and Blomgren (2018).	

Strategy	Elections	Legislative	Government
Dismissive	No movement in issue position, no discussion of RRP issue in elec- tion manifesto	Disengagement in de- bates, no movement in issue position, social avoidance in commit- tee hearings, abstain- ing from voting	
Accommodative	Convergence in issue position, discussion of RRP issue in elec- tion manifesto, elect- oral pacts	Positive sentiment in speeches directed at RRP, discussion of RRP issue in speeches, convergence in issue position, adopting populist rhetoric, voting with RRP in committees and plen- ary, joint motions and announcements	Coalition with RRP, minority government with RRP support, allocation of cabinet positions
Adversarial	Divergence in issue po- sition, discussion of RRP issue in elec- tion manifesto, elect- oral pacts	Negative sentiment in speeches directed at RRP, discussion of RRP issue in speeches, divergence in issue positiion, demon- ization, cross-bloc agreements, changing parliamentary rules concerning the struc- ture of committees, rejection of RRP initiatives, refusal to introduce joint mo- tions	Cordon sanitaire, out- right bans

and executive cooperation. For example, mainstream MPs can legally exclude or limit the influence of representatives from the radical right in committees by modifying formal rules or informal parliamentary practices, or collaborate by authoring motions and different parliamentary initiatives together. Another example is when mainstream politicians avoid interacting with RRP legislators in committees—as was the case in Sweden where certain MPs from the Social Democrats and the Left Party expressed their discomfort in socializing with members of SD in committee meetings (Blomgren, 2018). Strategies under the policy level focus on the actions that mainstream parties can take in response to the issue of the radical right. This includes ignoring, defusing, debating, or adopting the core issue of the RRP. For instance, a mainstream party could assign one member to speak on the motion of the RRP on its behalf, but that speaker will only clarify or reinforce the position of the party. In this way, the mainstream party still adheres to the debate, without increasing the salience of the issue initiated by the radical right (Heinze, 2022).

Although legislatures are generally characterized by formal and informal rules, there are still some opportunities within this institutional setting where strategic maneuvering is possible. One such opportunity is participating in legislative debates.⁸ Because some debates generate public and media attention, it provides an ideal platform for MPs to advertise their policy positions to their parties, party allies and rivals, and constituents (Osnabrügge et al., 2021; Proksch & Slapin, 2012, 2015).

However, legislative debates are, to some degree, also regulated environments. Unlike in manifestos and interactions on social media, legislative debates are normally on a particular government bill, or motion on the legislative agenda, which political parties must adhere to in their speeches (Proksch, Lowe, Wäckerle & Soroka, 2019). As such, the legislative agenda limits the range of topics MPs can choose to address in their speeches. Moreover, who gets to access the floor is determined by the incentives a country's electoral system generates, parliamentary rules, proximity to elections, and MP policy expertise (Bäck, Baumann, Debus & Müller, 2019; Bäck & Debus, 2016; Bäck, Debus & Müller, 2014; Giannetti & Pedrazzani, 2016; Poljak & Walter, 2023; Proksch & Slapin, 2012, 2015; van Kleef, Mickler & Otjes, 2024). For instance, in electoral systems where party unity matters, party leaders are expected to delegate speeches less. As a consequence, the statements tend to reflect the party line on the particular bill, motion, or amendment in question. In contrast, party leaders tend to distribute floor time to MPs with dissenting views where cultivating a personal reputation is rewarding, such as in parliamentary systems with majoritarian, mixed-member proportional, or preferential electoral systems where MPs are directly elected by their constituents.

⁸Following, Eggers and Spirling (2014), I refer to legislative debates as exchanges of statements on a particular subject and time, though it is important to note, that in the literature, they are sometimes not clearly and empirically differentiated from legislative speeches.

Despite the nature of legislative debates, speeches can be used as a tool by MPs to achieve vote, office, and policy-seeking goals (Ivanusch, 2024; Kollberg, 2023). In their analysis of austerity debates in Ireland, Herzog and Benoit (2015), find that, even in strong party systems, MPs use speeches as a form of verbal opposition and as a way to justify voting for unpopular austerity measures, thereby mitigating potential criticism from constituents. Similarly, Slapin, Kirkland, Lazzaro, Leslie and O'Grady (2018) observe that British MPs use speeches not only to justify rebellion, but also to signal ideological independence from their party on a particular issue to their constituency. Furthermore, Poyet and Raunio (2021) argue that, aside from investing in constituency service, speechmaking is also a strategy that MPs in preferential systems can engage in to improve the electoral performance of their parties.

Building on these insights, I identify facets of legislative speeches that are purposefully adapted by legislators in party competition, which I refer to as rhetorical responses. The first is sentiment, which is the underlying emotion or affectual attitude implied by a speech (Liu, 2012; Mohammad, 2016a).⁹ Studies by Kosmidis, Hobolt, Molloy and Whitefield (2019b) and Crabtree et al. (2020) demonstrate that political parties adopt a positive tone in their manifestos to enhance the appeal of their policy offerings and to influence voters' perceptions of their current situation. Likewise, Schwalbach (2022a) finds that single-coalition governments become more positive in the way they express themselves in their speeches in parliament when elections draw closer. In contrast, Poljak and Walter (2023) observe that policy- and trait-based attacks towards political rivals increase in parliaments nearing the end of the election cycle. Other studies also find that MPs strategically use emotive language to attract media attention. For instance, Osnabrügge et al. (2021) find that British MPs resort to more emotive rhetoric in high-profile political debates, such as Prime Minister's Questions. Similarly, Yildirim (2024, p.4) suggested that "electorally vulnerable and junior MPs find more value in engaging in emotional displays during their speech

⁹I use sentiment and tone interchangeably. Other co-occurring concepts of sentiment are emotionality, polarity, negativity, and emotive content. It should be noted that it is the tone of the language used in the speeches that mentions the radical right that I focus on. Bestvater and Monroe (2023) and Burnham (2024) argue that sentiment and stance are orthogonal, but on some occasions, the underlying stance in a sentence and the emotive language used can be correlated.

time", which his analysis of speeches in the House of Commons supported.

Considering these instances of strategic use of emotive language, it becomes possible to form expectations on how mainstream MPs can also employ the same tactics when interacting with the RRP in parliamentary debates. If they view the RRP as a pariah, then in their verbal exchanges with the representatives of the radical right, they may deliberately opt for confrontational or negative language to emphasize to the voters the differences between the speaker's party and the RRP along character-based dimensions. For example, mainstream party MPs can use pejorative labels, such as "climate-deniers", "un-Swedish", "neo-Nazis", or "fascists", when describing the RRP and its members.¹⁰ This type of rhetorical response may exemplify an adversarial approach. Indeed, Schwörer and Fernández-García (2021) find that some center-left parties demonize RRPs on social media platforms like Twitter. RRPs are also the subject of negative rhetoric in legislative debates, as Røed, Bäck and Carroll's (2023) findings show that the Progress Party is mainly criticized by the Labor Party, Socialist Left Party, and Center Party in the Norwegian Storting. Additionally, Hjorth's (2020) findings reveal that electorally secure and less issue constrained MPs are more likely to depict the Danish People's Party and its members as morally objectionable in their legislative speeches. Aside from attacking the RRP in their speeches, mainstream politicians can also use language associated with positive emotions to differentiate themselves from the RRP's anti-establishment rhetoric (Lewandowsky, Schwanholz, Leonhardt & Blätte, 2022; Valentim & Widmann, 2021). Table 4 summarizes how I expect a legislative speech's sentiment to be based on the mainstream party's choice of strategy. It should be noted that developing expectations for what a dismissive strategy will look like in sentiment is challenging if a mainstream party MP talks around the RRP during legislative debates. However, given the format of legislative debates, carrying out a dismissive strategy is difficult, as certain types of debates require a speaker to offer a reply.

Issue attention is another attribute of the legislative speech that can be strategically used in party competition. Ivanusch (2024, p.204) argues that, despite the topic constrain set by the legislative agenda, speeches can still be a tool for

¹⁰Meguid (2008) mentions organizational tactics, such as verbally denigrating the niche party, as analogous to a programmatic adversarial approach but does not elaborate on it.

	Rhetorical responses		
	Issue attention	Sentiment	
Dismissive	No discussion of RRP is- sue, divert attention to issue owned by party	-	
Accommodative	Discussion of RRP issue	Positive/Reduced negativity	
Adversarial	Discussion of RRP issue	Negative/Increased negativity	

 Table 4. Rhetorical responses corresponding to mainstream party strategies

issue competition because MPs can focus on other aspects of the particular issue being debated, or connect it with another issue that the party owns by going "off-topic". Hager and Hilbig (2020), for instance, demonstrated how German cabinet members would align the topics in their speeches with those identified as important in the public opinion reports they received, and adjust their substantive positions towards the preferences of the public expressed in the same reports. Following this logic, it is reasonable to argue that by steering a discussion on immigration to familiar ground, that is, issues along the traditional socio-economic dimension, mainstream parties force the radical right into a policy terrain where they do not have a comparative advantage given that they mobilize support on a single issue. By doing so, mainstream parties also signal to the voters that the issue raised by the RRP is without merit. However, if a mainstream party chooses to address the RRP's defining issue in their speeches, they can either choose to defend it, as Johnston and Sprong (2022) observed among green party legislators, or strategically emphasize it as a means to draw cross-pressured left-authoritarian voters from center-left rivals or expand coalition prospects, as suggested by Abou-Chadi (2014).

2.5 Affective Polarization and Party Cues

So far, I have only covered the ways in which mainstream parties and the radical right compete with one another in their efforts to gain electoral advantage over the other. In this sub-section, I explore one potential consequence of this interaction among the electorate, that is affective polarization towards the radical right.

While it has inspired significant research interest among political scientists due to its detrimental political consequences (Huddy & Yair, 2021), the term polarization has been understood in various ways in the literature (Skytte, 2021). Earlier studies of polarization have predominantly focused on extremity in issue positions (Abramowitz & Saunders, 2006), but as pointed out by Iyengar, Sood and Lelkes (2012), this is just one way to define partisan conflict. Indeed, scholars like Mason (2013) have questioned the extent of deepening divisions in policy positions among the electorate, arguing that voters possess moderate views on most issues. And even if the electorate has developed ideologically consistent attitudes towards policy area over time, it does not fully account for the alarming rise in partisan bias.

If the electorate largely agrees on most issues, where lies the polarization? According to Iyengar et al. (2012) and Reiljan (2016), the mass polarization we are witnessing today has more to do with the growing distance in affect between in-party and out-party members.¹¹ This type of polarization may not necessarily be based on substantive policy disagreements, but rather from deep-seated partisan and ideological identities. Formally known as affective polarization, it can manifest into heightened distrust in and refusal to interact with members of the out-party (Druckman & Levendusky, 2019), preferential treatment for copartisans (Iyengar & Westwood, 2015), dehumanization of out-party members (Martherus, Martinez, Piff & Theodoridis, 2021), partian stereotyping (Ahler & Sood, 2018), and arduous government formation (Barber, McCarty, Mansbridge & Martin, 2015). Studies on affective polarization have largely concentrated on the US experience and electorate, but notable efforts have been made to extend the concept to multi-party parliamentary democracies (Bantel, 2023a; Bassan-Nygate & Weiss, 2022; Bettarelli & Van Haute, 2022; Gidron, Adams & Horne, 2023; Reiljan & Ryan, 2021; Renström, Bäck & Carroll, 2021, 2022, 2023).

The identity-based approach to affective polarization builds on the results of Tajfel, Turner, Austin and Worchel's (1979) social identity theory, that posits

¹¹While they might appear similar, it is important to distinguish affective polarization from negative partisanship. The latter refers to a strong dislike of the out-group rather than positive feelings towards the party one feels most attached to as a basis for partisanship (Abramowitz & Webster, 2018; Meléndez & Kaltwasser, 2021). Negative partisanship towards the radical right is also observed to be high.

that seeing one's self and others in a group creates strong psychological attachments, which in turn are expressed in an accentuated and distorted perception of differences between in- and out-group members.¹² Scholars like Iyengar et al. (2012), Iyengar and Westwood (2015), and Mason (2013, 2015, 2016) adhere to this identity-based conceptualization. This approach to affective polarization emphasizes strong partisan identities and their overlap with other salient, symbolic identities as the culprit behind animosity towards out-partisans (Bougher, 2017; Mason, 2013, 2015, 2016). Because there are fewer political and social identities that intersect across parties, it makes it easier for party supporters to see the opposite side as completely different from their own and as threats (Banda & Cluverius, 2018). Put differently, because parties in the US are increasingly becoming ideologically and demographically homogeneous in their composition, the out-party not only becomes a reference point but also an embodiment of the "other" (Lelkes, 2018).

While the identity-based model is the prevailing explanation for affective polarization, there are others who are not convinced that it is growing tribalism in politics that fuels out-party denigration. Advocates of this alternative "rational" perspective insist that negative partian affect is driven by intense disagreement among party supporters on a wide range of issues, such as the size of welfare state, abortion, gay and transgender rights, gun control, and immigration (Abramowitz & Webster, 2018; Webster & Abramowitz, 2017). What facilitates this ideological disagreement, according to Druckman, Peterson and Slothuus (2013), is the polarization of elites over salient and non-salient issues. In a polarized environment, it becomes quite easy for voters to adopt their party's positions and hold attitudes that are consistent with one another. This entails fewer cross-cutting issues, thus fueling affective polarization. Among those who argue for an ideological basis to affective polarization are Rogowski and Sutherland (2016) and Lelkes (2021), who in their experimental studies, find that out-party candidates with relatively extreme policy preferences are consistently evaluated more negatively by voters. Because the policy consequences of the electoral victory of the other party becomes evident to the voters, it raises the stakes of electoral outcomes. However, a study by Lelkes (2018) found no evidence for

¹²See Huddy (2001) for a more thorough discussion of SIT.

the partisan sorting hypothesis, stating that affective polarization has increased among voters across levels of political knowledge and ideological consistency.

Similar trends of partisan dislike have also been observed among the electorate in multi-party systems across Europe (Bantel, 2023a; Gidron et al., 2023; Harteveld, 2021; Kekkonen & Ylä-Anttila, 2021; Knudsen, 2021). In a pioneering comparative study of the topic, Wagner (2021) finds that the level of affective polarization in the US is not exceptional when compared to less affluent and stable democracies. Similar findings of high partisan conflict are observed in Central and Eastern European countries, as well as Southern European countries (Reiljan, 2020).

Interestingly, affective polarization is on the rise, even in a consensus-oriented democracy such as Sweden. Consensus institutions are often characterized by having high satisfaction with democracy among its citizens, a more inclusive political decision-making, and a multi-party system that disincentivizes bloc formations and social sorting (Bernaerts, Blanckaert & Caluwaerts, 2023; Liphart, 2012). Because of these qualities, they should exhibit lower levels of polarization compared to majoritarian institutions. And yet, in his study of trends in affective polarization for Nordic countries, Rvan (2023) noted an upward trend in Denmark and Sweden. Bettarelli, Reiljan and Van Haute (2023) confirms this finding, observing that affective polarization has increased over time, with the largest spike in countries like Italy and Sweden. Reiljan and Ryan (2021) suggest that the trend appears to be driven by the voters rating their own parties more favorably than others, but what is more interesting is the growing importance of the cultural values dimension that appears to be partly the basis of the affective divide (Oscarsson, Bergman, Bergström & Hellström, 2021). Indeed, as Renström et al. (2021, 2022, 2023) demonstrate in their study of Swedish voters, those who perceive immigration more as a threat to their in-party tend to exhibit stronger affective polarization towards members of the out-parties.

While overall out-group dislike is on the rise in multi-party systems, the RRP stands out in the intensity of loathing it receives and radiates (Gidron et al., 2023; Reiljan, 2020; Reiljan & Ryan, 2021). Radical right parties invoke the highest degree of negative emotions among the public in many contemporary European countries. This phenomenon is widely known as the radical right

exceptionalism. For instance, the negative affect between blocs in the Riksdag is moderate relative to the intense loathing for SD and its supporters (Reiljan & Ryan, 2021). Similarly, Renström et al. (2023) find that affective polarization is mostly directed at SD and the Left Party supporters. Bäck and Kokkonen (2022) also observe the same patterns in their study of affective polarization among Swedish MPs. Furthermore, Ryan (2023) finds that radical right parties in Denmark and Sweden are rated more negatively than their counterparts in Finland and Norway. In the Netherlands, the Party for Freedom (PVV) and the Forum for Democracy (FvD) are widely disliked by voters (Harteveld, 2021). This tells us that RRPs are recipients of unique levels of antipathy so much so it has produced a new cleavage: the radical right and its supporters versus mainstream parties (Bantel, 2023a).

There are several factors that explain the widespread dislike towards the RRP. First, mainstream party and RRP supporters fundamentally differ in their views on socio-cultural issues, such as immigration, national identity, gender, and environment (Bjånesøy, 2023; Harteveld, 2021). For instance, Reiljan and Ryan (2021) observe that attitudes towards refugee reception mainly explain affective evaluations of SD. Second, RRP politicians and members openly promote exclusionary forms of nationalism and use incendiary rhetoric, often depicting the mainstream or "cartel" parties in collusion against the people. The accusatory tone which they adopt in their speeches towards supporters and representatives of mainstream parties intensifies existing contempt for the radical right. Lastly, some RRPs are continuities of or have links with the historically extreme right, a connection which makes voters uneasy despite agreeing with the RRP on immigration (Harteveld & Ivarsflaten, 2018; Harteveld, Mendoza & Rooduijn, 2021; Ivarsflaten, 2006).

Recent studies indicate that elite communication also plays a role in driving affective polarization towards the radical right. Gervais (2017, 2019) argues that uncivil elite communication activates negative emotions like anger, which makes voters less likely to engage in bipartisanship and more likely to use the same hostile style of rhetoric. Such style of elite communication has also been noted to diminish political trust and widen the affective divide, especially among individuals who possess populist attitudes (Nai & Maier, 2024; Skytte, 2021).

One explanation for the connection between elite rhetoric and affective po-

larization towards SD comes from the party cues literature. Party cues are commonly defined as information shortcuts or labels that convey party affiliation of a candidate or where a party is located on a certain issue (Bullock, 2020). Voters turn to party cues for two reasons: to arrive at accurate political judgments without having to learn about the specific details of a policy or a candidate's background or to be consistent with their partian identities and their parties' adopted positions (Slothuus & Bisgaard, 2021). Regardless of the underlying psychological motivation, the crucial insight from this literature is that voters integrate information into their affective evaluation of a group or party if it comes from their own political party (Levendusky, 2013). For instance, in their survey experiment in Sweden, Bäck, Carroll, Renström and Ryan (2023) demonstrate that exposure to a factual political message from an in-party source representative triggers affective polarization, especially among strong party identifiers. Similarly, Martin and Nai (2024) observe that partia animus towards the out-party is correlated with the negative tone used by an individual's in-party. Bantel (2023b) also shows that dislike for the Alternative for Germany increases when mainstream elites create a common rhetorical front against the radical right party. Based on these insights, it can be expected that the sentiment of the legislative speeches directed at the RRP will influence partisans' affective evaluation of the radical right, as shown in Figure 2.



Figure 2: A summary of the relationships examined in this dissertation

3 Research Design

In this section, I explain my choice of Sweden as a case by revisiting the origins of what has been, by far, its most electorally successful radical right party, the Sweden Democrats. Furthermore, I provide a brief overview of the legislative debate structure in the Riksdag. However, a substantial portion of this section focuses on detailing the data collection process and statistical analyses in each paper, along with some of my reflections on how I balanced methodological requirements and practical limitations.

3.1 Examining the Swedish Case

Prior to 2010, Sweden was considered a country where the radical right could not thrive.¹³ At that time, Rydgren (2002) thought of conditions in Sweden as hostile to RRPs: socio-economic issues dominated the GAL-TAN, immigration as an issue was of low importance, and mainstream parties were perceived to be distinct from each other by voters. But after struggling for two decades, the Sweden Democrats reached its longstanding goal of entering the Riksdag, earning 5.7% of the vote in the 2010 general elections. Since then, the party has only grown in size. Currently, it is supporting the center-right government, after earning 20.6% of the vote and becoming the second largest party in the last 2022 elections.

The Sweden Democrats was founded on 6 February 1988. Unlike the other successful radical right parties in Scandinavia, it did not originate as a protest against high taxes and big government (Oja & Mral, 2013). Instead, its predecessor, the Sweden Party (Sverigepartiet), was formed from the unification of the Progress Party (Framstegspartiet) and the far right group, Keep Sweden Swedish (Bevara Sverige Svenskt) (Rydgren, 2002). Thus, it can be said that SD has historical roots in extremism, and lacking in what Ivarsflaten (2006) calls a reputational shield.

The Sweden Democrats qualifies as a radical right party though it defines itself as socially conservative. The party views immigration as a threat, yet over time, it has noticeably mellowed its tone regarding the issue. In their most re-

¹³This was briefly interrupted by the entry of New Democracy into the Riksdag in 1994.

cent party manifesto, the party writes that "asylum immigration from countries outside our neighborhood must cease...and those who have no connection to Swedish society should leave than immigrate to Sweden" (Sverigedemokraterna, 2022).¹⁴ SD has long demanded for the decrease in asylum seekers, as well as stricter language and civic knowledge requirements to obtain Swedish permanent residency and citizenship. It has also consistently advocated for repatriation and in 2018, proposed the institution of detention centers in cases where deportation cannot be implemented quickly. However, their perspective on assimilation has changed, and now views it as possible and even desirable. In their 2014 party manifesto, they called for a "return to the assimilation policy applied until the mid-1970s that immigrants must adapt to Sweden and not the other way around" (Sverigedemokraterna, 2014).¹⁵

Aside from immigration, law and order is also a priority for SD. It describes itself as the party striving for a safer Sweden. Traces of nativism are visible in the party's opinion on the source of criminality. To illustrate, they associate the rising gang criminality in the country with mass immigration. In their 2022 party manifesto, SD states that "second-generation immigrants are more likely to commit crimes than their parents" (Sverigedemokraterna, 2022).¹⁶ To reduce criminality, the party proposes stopping the "flow of groups who have a hard time integrating into Swedish culture" (Sverigedemokraterna, 2022).¹⁷

The party also exhibits populism in their official statements. In their recent party manifesto, SD attributes the increasing crime rate to the ineffective integration policies implemented by the center-right and social democratic government parties (Sverigedemokraterna, 2022). Furthermore, in their analysis of keynote speeches delivered by party leaders in the 2019 Almedalen, Vahter

¹⁴The original sentence in Swedish was "Asylinvandringen från länder utanför vårt närområde måste upphöra och fler som befinner sig i Sverige utan rätt eller som saknar anknytning till det svenska samhället bör framöver lämna, än som invandrar till Sverige."

¹⁵The original version of the sentence was "En återgång till den assimileringspolitik som gällde fram till mitten av 1970-talet och som innebär att det är invandrarna som skall anpassa sig till Sverige och inte tvärtom."

¹⁶The original version of the sentence was ""Trots att kostnaden för integrationspolitiska åtgärder och för satsningar på skola, välfärd och bostäder i segregerade områden varit omfattande, har politiken misslyckats i sådan grad att andra generationens invandrare är mer benägna att begå brott än sina föräldrar och i stor grad utgör rekryteringsbasen för gängen.

¹⁷The original sentence in Swedish was "En första och viktig åtgärd är att stoppa invandringen av grupper som har svårt att integreras i det svenska samhället och kulturen."

and Jakobson (2023) note that Jimmie Åkesson, SD's party leader, invokes a Manichean worldview in his rhetoric, i.e., discourse which conceives of politics as the conflict between the people and morally corrupt elites who are often centerright parties and the Social Democrats. In one part of his speech, he portrays the former Swedish Prime Minister Stefan Löfven as being out of touch with the ordinary Swedish people. He draws on his personal activities, such as shopping at Ullared on a normal basis, to appear relatable to voters.

In contrast to other radical right parties in the Nordic region, SD was systematically ostracized when it first gained national representation in 2010. All parties from both blocs were clear and vocal in their unwillingness to collaborate with the Sweden Democrats, citing differences in their views on the worth of human beings and the neo-Nazi roots of SD as the primary reasons (Leander, 2022). The cordon sanitaire was enforced strictly even at the local levels (Axelsen, 2024; Backlund, 2020). This policy of non-cooperation became even more formalized upon the creation of the December Agreement in 2014, which prevented SD from having a hand in the passage of the minority government budget. However, it did not take long for some center-right parties to abandon the agreement. In 2015, the Christian Democrats (KD) voted to leave the December Agreement. Following the KD's decision, the leaders of the Conservative Party (M) and Liberals (L) announced that the agreement was effectively over. Nevertheless, they still chose to uphold their commitment to vote on their respective budgets and not support any vote of no confidence initiated by SD (Sveriges Radio, 2015).

Gradually, the resolve of some mainstream parties to uphold the cordon sanitaire began to weaken. By 2017, Anna Kinberg Batra, the former leader of the Conservatives, announced her party's willingness to talk with SD on individual issues at the committee level. In the following year, M and KD declared their openness to forming a government with the informal backing of SD, signalling the dissolution of the cordon sanitaire and creating a rift between the Conservatives and Christian Democrats on one side, and the Center (C) and Liberal Parties on another. At the same time, local politicians from M and KD in municipalities of Sölvesborg, Bjuv, Bromölla, Hörby, Staffanstorp and Svalöv formed right-wing coalitions with SD (Axelsen, 2024). Three years later, Ulf Kristersson, the successor of Kinberg Batra, expressed in a TV program on Swedish national television that his party could imagine working with SD. In the interview, he described how the radical right party has changed and has become more serious in politics ("Kristersson: Därför kan vi tänka oss att samarbeta med SD", 2021). He, however, stressed that their openness only extended to collaborating on issues where the two parties shared views. In the same year, Nyamko Sabuni replaced Jan Björklund as the party leader of the Liberals. This change in L's party leadership brought about a shift in their strategy, one that was more conciliatory, as she announced her party's desire for a right-wing government with or without the support of SD. Thus, it came as no surprise that following the 2022 general elections, M, KD, and L would form a minority government, with SD acting as a supporting party, through the Tidö Agreement. In a recent statement by KD, the party announced that it is now open to sitting with SD in government in the upcoming general elections (SVT, 2024). These latest developments suggest the evolving nature of the Swedish party system, and its adaptation to an electoral landscape where the radical right has become an active actor (Aylott & Bolin, 2019).

3.2 Structure of Debates in the Riksdag

In this sub-section, I provide a brief overview of how debates are structured in the Riksdag. Understanding this is important because parliamentary rules, alongside informal practices and debating style, can influence the rhetorical responses discussed earlier. These parliamentary rules determine who can speak, their speech duration, and which topics can be addressed during plenary debates. Moreover, they are shaped by the incentives created by a country's electoral system. For example, Proksch and Slapin (2015) classified countries according to the degree of party leadership control over floor access, which varies depending on the incentives for personal votes created by their electoral systems. At one end, there are majoritarian systems that provide strong incentives for personal votes, requiring minimal control from party leaders over floor access. At the other end, there are party-centric systems with closed-list electoral rules that offer weak incentives for personal votes, as a result, individual access to the floor is generally lower (Proksch & Slapin, 2015). Sweden lies in the middle of this spectrum. Its open-list electoral system allows voters to cast personal votes for an individual candidate, providing moderate incentives for seeking personal

votes and allowing for some individual floor access. However, Bäck and Debus (2016) note that although the general guidelines for speechmaking in the Riksdag are fairly permissive, party lists remain prioritized.

Typically, legislative debates in the Riksdag focus on government proposals or private members' motions. Before these are debated, they are sent to the relevant parliamentary committees for review (Sa arbetar utskotten, 2023). After deliberating the proposals, the committee formulates a position for each one. The proposal from the committee is based on the position held by the majority, although dissenting committee members can submit their reservations on the issue. Once a decision is reached, a report is published and prepared for debate in the Chamber. During these debates, the committee majority first speaks, followed by the largest party that filed a reservation. In the absence of any reservations, the speaking order is based on the size of the parties in the Riksdag (Arbetsplenum, 2024). Voting on the proposal takes place after the debate concludes.

MPs can also obtain floor time by inquiring about specific issues through written questions to a government minister, who is required to reply within two weeks. This process leads to interpellation debates, where the member and minister engage in a discussion. Speaking time is limited, and interested participants must pre-register to participate in interpellation debates (*Interpellationsvar*, 2018). Additionally, there are other opportunities for MPs to ask government members questions during question times, which are held weekly and every other month for the prime minister. A more high-profile debate is the party leader debate, which is held three times annually. Typically, the party group leaders and the Speaker of the Riksdag agree on the debate rules beforehand (*Debatter i kammaren*, 2023). Lastly, there are special debates addressing subjects unrelated to regular parliamentary business items. The Speaker consults with party group leaders regarding the timing of these debates, and the party that requests the debate initiates the discussion, followed by ministers and other parties (*Debatter i kammaren*, 2023).

Regarding rhetorical practices in the Riksdag, in her examination of unparliamentary behaviors in the House of Commons and the Riksdag, Ilie (2006) observes that Swedish MPs generally avoid confrontation and emotional displays. However, when they do engage in confrontational discourse, they tend to focus more on ideological matters or on the shortcomings of a rival on a particular topic rather than resort to personal attacks. In addition to speaking styles, various factors have also been identified to impact speaking time in the Riksdag. For instance, Bäck et al. (2019) observe that the distribution of speaking time becomes more restrictive as elections draw closer. Furthermore, Bäck, Debus and Müller (2014) find that female MPs speak less during legislative debates, particularly on topics considered as "hard" such as those on macroeconomics, finance, and transportation. This disparity between male and female MPs is present across the different parties in the Riksdag but appears to narrow as female MPs gain more parliamentary experience (Baumann, Bäck & Carroll, 2021).

3.3 Measuring Sentiment in Legislative Speeches (Paper 1)

The primary dataset used for Paper 1 is from ParlSpeech v.2 by Rauh and Schwalbach (2020) which contains full-text vectors and meta-data of parliamentary speeches held in the legislative chambers of various countries, including Sweden. It provided information about each speech, including the date it was delivered, the speaker's name and party, the order in which it was delivered, the agenda in which it was held, its full content, and word count. A total of 365,560 speeches comprise the dataset for the Riksdag, which spans from the 2nd of October 1990 to the 21st of December 2018. However, as I am interested in the period when SD gained representation in the Riksdag, I narrowed the data from ParlSpeech to include only speeches after the 2010 general elections. This reduced data, however, still required further preprocessing to ensure its compatibility with other datasets. For instance, some observations in the data listed the speaker's ministerial position before their names, while others included (what I assumed) places of residence after their names. Both had to be removed during the data cleaning.

While the reduced ParlSpeech data was a starting point, it only provided speeches for two legislative terms. To expand the dataset, I obtained speeches from 2018 to 2022 from the Riksdag's Open Data website. Similar to the initial dataset, the additional speeches also needed cleaning. For instance, the parties the speakers belonged to were appended after their names, which had to be removed to standardize the data. Moreover, upon examining the raw text of the speeches, I noticed that some of the statements were preceded by strings that appear to be agenda titles (e.g., "Applåder", "STYLEREF Kantrubrik MERGEFORMAT", "Val av andre vice talman", "Aktuell debatt om Försvarsberedningens förslag"). These also had to be removed; otherwise, they could have distorted the results of my analysis. After completing these cleaning steps and ensuring that the two datasets were compatible, they were merged into a unified speech data.¹⁸ The speeches by the king, speakers, and deputy speakers, as well as political defectors and ministers, were also removed to refine the final data further.¹⁹ This resulted in 131,536 speeches overall. Figure 3 illustrates the number of speeches delivered by each party for each year.

Once the speech data was assembled, the next step was to identify the target. This was crucial because, in Paper 1, the aim was to determine the sentiment of speeches directed at SD and compare it with that of other mainstream parties to argue that even in legislative debates, the party was perceived as a pariah. Inspired by Schwalbach (2022b), the target party of speeches was identified using a dictionary approach that featured the names of the parties and their MPs. I implemented a naive method of assigning party targets, which means that if the number of words associated with a party exceeds the combined number of words associated with other parties, I assign the dominant party. The reasoning behind this is to enhance the chances that the speech targets a specific party, even if it may reference other parties and their MPs.²⁰ After this step, I retained only speeches that were not self-referential.

¹⁸It is important to note that, while my description of the data cleaning process may sound straightforward, in reality, it was more iterative, which involved refining my preprocessing procedures as new issues or patterns were discovered along the way.

¹⁹The reason for this is that I am only interested in speeches when they are delivered by MPs who are affiliated with political parties.

²⁰In this way, I can ensure that there is a primary target party. This approach is stricter than a simple frequency approach, which assigns the party target based on whether the number of keywords associated with one party exceeds the number of words associated with other parties. A more conservative approach would have been to retain those speeches containing keywords for SD only, however, this would decrease the dataset significantly.





A key part of the analysis was to determine the sentiment of the speeches directed at the different parties. One common way of acquiring the emotional quality of texts is through sentiment analysis. Sentiment analysis generally refers to the process of determining the valence of a text, whether it is negative, positive, or neutral, as well as detecting the source's attitude towards the text's target or topic (Liu, 2012; Mohammad, 2016b). One approach to measuring sentiment in political texts is through a dictionary approach. Dictionary methods use the occurrence of keywords to determine if a category is present or not (Grimmer & Stewart, 2013). This approach is much easier to implement because it simply relies on the frequency of keywords precoded into discrete categories (Maerz & Puschmann, 2020). Despite their simplicity, dictionary methods produce meaningful and standardized measures that can be aggregated at different, meaningful units of analysis. As emphasized by Young and Soroka (2012, p.208), "with a well-defined comprehensive dictionary, a basic word count can provide a powerful and reliable analysis of [the] affective composition of a text".

One contributing factor to the popularity of this method is the access to reliable off-the-shelf sentiment lexicons, specifically designed for evaluating tone in political texts. Among these, the Lexicoder Sentiment Dictionary (LSD) by Young and Soroka (2012) is the most widely used in political science. The LSD is a comprehensive dictionary that has been demonstrated to outperform other generic lexicons such as LIWC and ANEW in matching with human coding standards (Proksch et al., 2019). Additionally, it has been machine translated into multiple languages, enabling Proksch et al. (2019) to assess sentiment in State of the European Union debates, and Schwalbach (2022a) and Silva et al. (2023) to examine the impact of the electoral cycle on the level of conflict in both speeches and Tweets across EU countries. For these reasons, I employed a dictionary approach using the translated LSD to assess the sentiment of legislative speeches focused on SD.

There are, of course, drawbacks to using dictionary-based techniques. Offthe-shelf dictionaries that are not developed for a specific task do not perform well when applied to texts featuring specialized languages (Grimmer & Stewart, 2013). Furthermore, they tend to rely on conventional uses of emotional words and phrases, making it challenging for purely dictionary-based sentiment

analysis to detect instances when a word is used in a specific way (Mohammad, 2016b). Rice and Zorn (2021) illustrates this with the word "love", which almost always carries positive valence in off-the-shelf sentiment lexicons, but has another meaning in tennis that is not emotional. Another downside to using sentiment analysis and an off-the-shelf dictionary like LSD is its difficulty in identifying sarcasm in speech. Approaches to dealing with sarcasm in natural language processing are still limited. As noted by Liu (2012, p.82), "sarcastic sentences pose significant challenges in sentiment analysis since they typically necessitate commonsense knowledge and discourse analysis for proper identification". Sarcasm is prevalent in political discussions such as legislative debates. For instance, after reviewing the speeches classified as "positive" by the LSD, I found examples that were arguably sarcastic in tone. To give an example, during a debate about police issues, a speaker from the Conservative Party used the words "Congratulations on your proposals to solve today's social problems!"²¹ The sentence is sarcastic because, when reading the full speech, one sees that the speaker actually emphasizes how SD, at the beginning of its term in the Riksdag, lacked its own legal policies while nonetheless asserting it had created some. However, I want to emphasize that although I noticed these instances of miscoding sarcastic statements, it is crucial to highlight that the sentiment analysis using LSD effectively identifies speeches that are actually negative.

The statistical analysis conducted for this paper can be described as straightforward. I estimated several Ordinary Least Squares (OLS) regression models with clustered standard errors at the speaker level and debate fixed effects. First, I regressed sentiment on the party target of the speech, as well as the legislative term during which it was delivered and the governmental status of the speaker's party using the full speech dataset, as shown in Equation 1.

$$Sentiment_i = \alpha_i + \beta_1 prtytrgt_i + \beta_2 legterm_i + \beta_3 gov_i + \gamma_2 debate_i + \dots + \gamma_n debate_i + \epsilon_{it}$$
(1)

Next, I estimated an interaction model to assess whether the sentiment of the speeches directed at SD became positive over time, as illustrated in Equation 2.

²¹The original statement in Swedish was "Gratulerar till förslagen för att lösa dagens samhällsproblem!"

$$Sentiment_{i} = \alpha_{i} + \beta_{1} prtytrgt_{i} + \beta_{2} legterm_{i} + \beta_{3} gov_{i} + \beta_{4} prtytrgt_{i} \cdot legterm_{i} + \gamma_{2} debate_{i} + \dots + \gamma_{n} debate_{i} + \epsilon_{i}$$
(2)

I then examined the differences in sentiment towards SD between centerleft and center-right parties over time using an interaction model presented in Equation 3, using exclusively speeches directed at SD.

$$Sentiment_{i} = \alpha_{i} + \beta_{1}bloc_{i} + \beta_{2}legterm_{i} + \beta_{3}gov_{i} + \beta_{4}bloc_{i} \cdot legterm_{i} + \gamma_{2}debate_{i} + \dots + \gamma_{n}debate_{i} + \epsilon_{it}$$
(3)

3.4 Measuring Negativity in Legislative Speeches (Paper 2)

In Paper 2, I aimed to investigate the impact of the relative electoral success of SD on the negativity expressed in the speeches of mainstream parties. To achieve this, I needed to gather individual information about the MPs as well as demographic details about the electoral districts they represented. As a first step, I created a directory of MPs elected during the period I examined, using information from the EveryPolitician API. Some useful details included the MP's electoral district, start and end terms, wikiID, and gender.²² However, from previous examinations of the legislative data, I observed that some MPs had changed their names during the period examined.²³ Additionally, through my initial attempts to merge the speech and directory datasets, I discovered that some substitute MPs were missing from the directory based on the information from the EveryPolitician API. To address this, I manually added the missing substitute MPs to the directory and included the former names of the MPs who changed their names during the study. This step was essential before assigning unique speaker IDs, as failing to do so would mean that MPs appearing under different names in the speech dataset would not have corresponding entries in

²²It was later, while merging the speech data with the list position data, that I realized discrepancies between the electoral districts of the EveryPolitician API and electoral districts of the MP in the Elections Authorities data. In these situations, I verified the electoral district using the data from Welfare State Analytics and corrected the inaccurate information in the directory.

²³For example, an MP from SD had changed her name three times during her brief stay in the Riksdag.

the directory. The final version of the directory includes a total of 810 MPs, but some are listed multiple times due to their representation of different electoral districts across various elections. After creating the directory and assigning distinct identifiers to each MP, I utilize the wikiIDs to scrape and integrate details about their educational background.

In the second step for Paper 2, I combined my MP directory with speeches aimed at SD.²⁴ Following this integration, additional data on the MPs—such as their list position in the previous general election, time served in parliament, party roles, and committee membership—obtained from Welfare State Analytics (accessed on May 2, 2023), Swedish Elections Authorities, and Riksdag Open Data were further added. The demographic details of the MP's district were acquired from Statistics Sweden. To determine the proportion of foreign-born residents in each electoral district, I gathered data on both the foreign-born population and the total population size of each municipality. Subsequently, I grouped all municipalities within an electoral district, totaled the number of foreign-born inhabitants, and divided that by the total population. Lastly, I incorporated the total vote counts and the share of votes for both the speaker's party and SD within their electoral district, which were sourced from the Swedish Elections Authorities. Table 5 summarizes the data collected for Paper 2.

In this paper, I chose to focus on the negativity present in speeches aimed at SD. This decision comes from insights drawn from the analysis conducted for Paper 1, where certain speeches classified as positive by LSD felt "quite negative". Additionally, operationalizing sentiment as a negative and positive scale presents challenges, particularly when speeches lack clear positive language. For example, a less hostile speech does not necessarily convey a positive tone rather, it may simply indicate a preference for avoiding more confrontational language. Because this is often the case when mainstream politicians address the radical right in their speeches, I decided to focus on detecting degrees of negativity instead.

Furthermore, as discussed in the previous section, relying solely on dictionary

²⁴In this paper, I break down the speeches into sentences and attribute the party target using a frequency threshold. Frequent mentions of keywords associated with a party make it less likely due to random chance. Sentences that included an equal number of keywords associated with multiple parties were categorized accordingly NA.

Variable	Description
Party leadership role	Dates when the MP was party leader, party secretary, party speaker, or group leader in the Riksdag
Gender	
Committee	Committee/s of which the MP was chair/vice-chair
University education	Name/s of the higher-education institu- tion/s the MP attended
Seniority	Time served in the Riksdag
Service periods	Start and end dates of the MP in the Riksdag
List position	Rank of the MP on their party's ballot in the electoral district in the previous election
SD vote	Number and share of votes of SD in the district
MP's party vote	Number and share of votes for the MP's party in the district
Share of foreign-born	Proportion of foreign-born residents in the MP's electoral district

Table 5. Overview of collected data for	Paper 2. Variables	were measured at the time	e the MP was speaking
at the debate.			

methods makes it difficult to consider the context in which words are used, as a result, one may miss negative words or underestimate negativity. A way to improve the performance of a dictionary-based sentiment analysis is to complement it with word embeddings. Word embeddings basically represent terms as vectors of numbers, wherein terms that are semantically similar in meaning are mapped closer into a multi-dimensional space (Rudkowsky et al., 2018). A classic example is the analogy task of king - man + woman = queen. This holds because if we represent the words as sets of numbers, with each number indicating a feature of a king, man, or woman, and perform some mathematical operation on these vectors, we will arrive at the resulting vector for queen (Grimmer, Roberts & Stewart, 2022). Thus, the distances between word vectors become informative. In contrast to the bag-of-words approach, word embeddings learn the meanings of a word by considering the company that it keeps (Widmann &

Wich, 2022).²⁵

There are two models commonly used in the discipline to create word embeddings from a corpus: GloVe (Pennington, Socher & Manning, 2014) and Word2Vec (Mikolov, Sutskever, Chen, Corrado & Dean, 2013). According to Rodriguez and Spirling (2022), both are mathematically similar, however, in comparing the two, they conclude that Word2Vec is likely less robust than the former. Recently, scholars have taken advantage of the ease with which it can be implemented to enhance off-the-shelf dictionaries. For instance, Osnabrügge et al. (2021) use word embeddings to identify emotional words in speeches delivered in the House of Commons that have been overlooked by the generic sentiment lexicon, ANEW.²⁶ It has also been applied to tasks such as creating domainspecific dictionaries. These studies often begin with a small set of positive and negative seed words and, through word embeddings, identify terms in the corpus that are semantically similar to the seed words. To illustrate, Rice and Zorn (2021) created a corpus-based dictionary from a large dataset of movie reviews and demonstrated how the resulting dictionary outperforms AFINN and LIWC in matching the actual hand ratings of reviewers. Cochrane et al. (2022) largely follow the same approach and train a word embeddings model on speeches delivered in the Canadian House of Commons. They conclude that the dictionary induced by the Word2Vec embeddings outperforms other available dictionaries, including LSD, Vader, and Hu-Liu, in predicting sentiment scores from human coders. Another example of a study leveraging this method is Widmann and Wich (2022), where they train a word embeddings model on a large corpus of German political text to construct the ed8 dictionary. Finally, Røed et al. (2023) also utilizes word embeddings to create a lexicon for measuring negativity in speeches delivered in the Norwegian Stortinget.

²⁵This is also known as the distributional hypothesis. Dictionary-based sentiment analysis, however, takes on the bag-of-words assumption, which "treats documents as a vector containing the count of each word present in the document, disregarding the order the words appear" (Lucas et al., 2015, p.257).

 $^{^{26}\}mathrm{Rudkowsky}$ et al. (2018) refers to these as out-of-context words.

Table 6.	Examples of medium	1 and high negativit	ty in speeches	directed at SD	. Words that are	italicized are
	responsible for the ta	arget and level of ne	egativity of th	e statement.		

Original	Translation
Man kan säga, som vi har hört un- der dagen, att sverigedemokraterna har väldigt lite att tillföra av egna idéer eller tankar, utan det blir ett ständigt angrepp som egentligen inte innehåller så mycket annatV, March 2010	One can say, as we have heard dur- ing the day, that the Sweden Demo- crats have very little to add of their own ideas or thoughts, but it becomes a con- stant <i>attack</i> that really does not contain much else.
Sverigedemokraterna är ett national- istiskt och populistiskt parti. En majoritet av riksdagens partier har därför tydligt deklarerat: vi samarb- etar inte vi förhandlar inte och vi stöder inte en regering som gör sig beroende av sverigedemokraternaS, December 2018	The Sweden Democrats are a national- ist and populist party. A majority of the parliamentary parties have there- fore clearly declared: we do not cooper- ate, we do not negotiate and we do not support a government that makes itself dependent on the Sweden Democrats.

Among the two discussed approaches, I opted for the one by Osnabrügge et al. (2021), which uses an off-the-shelf dictionary along with word embeddings to identify overlooked emotional words in a corpus for inclusion in the dictionary. The main motivation behind this choice is the selection of seed words for identifying these overlooked emotional words. With my selected approach, I could systematically choose both negative and positive seed words because they would be derived from the off-the-shelf dictionary. For instance, the AFINN dictionary I used assigns scores to words ranging from -5 (very negative) to +5(very positive). This allowed me to easily set a threshold for these scores to identify the seed words. This approach appears more transparent than the one proposed by Rice and Zorn (2021), where specific steps for seed word selection were unclear. Overall, combining a dictionary approach with word embeddings seemed to improve the sentiment analysis accuracy in detecting negativity in speeches directed at SD, as elaborated in Paper 2. Table 6 shows two statements directed at SD that contain an equal amount of total words. The first statement is an example of moderate negativity, while the second one is classified as having higher negativity.

In the main analysis of this paper, I estimated negative binomial regression models to examine the relationship between changes in SD's relative vote share and negativity in speeches directed at it. First, I regressed negativity on SD' relative vote share, clustering standard errors at the speaker level and including district fixed effects, as illustrated in in Equation $4.^{27}$

$$log(Negativity_i) = \alpha_i + \beta_1 \Delta relvoteshare_i + \gamma_2 district_i + \dots + \gamma_n district_i + \epsilon_i$$
(4)

Next, I included my other variable of interest, the length of SD's time in parliament, along with a range of control variables. These include the overall engagement of the speaker, list position, a dummy variable indicating whether the speaker holds party leadership and committee chair positions at the time of speaking, and a dummy variable reflecting if the speaker's party is in government. Furthermore, I include the number of years the MP has served in the Riksdag at the time of speaking, their gender, if they have university education, and the change in the share of foreign-born residents in the districts they represent, as shown in Equation 5.

$$log(Negativity_i) = \alpha_{it} + \beta_1 \Delta relvoteshare_i + \beta_2 SDyrsparl_i + \dots + \beta_n X_{n,i} + \gamma_2 district_i + \dots + \gamma_n district_i + \epsilon_i$$
(5)

Finally, to determine whether the impact of SD's relative vote share on negativity towards it increases with its presence in parliament, I estimate an interaction model, as shown in Equation 6.

$$log(Negativity_i) = \alpha_i + \beta_1 \Delta relvoteshare_i + \beta_2 SDyrsparl_i + \beta_3 \Delta relvoteshare_i \cdot SDyrsparl_i + \dots + \beta_n X_{n,i} + \gamma_2 district_i + \dots + \gamma_n district_i + \epsilon_i \quad (6)$$

3.5 Affective Polarization towards SD (Paper 3)

Paper 3 examines how negativity from in-party elites toward SD influences a partisan's affective polarization aimed at the RRP. To do this, I combine the sentiment analysis results of speeches directed at SD from Paper 2 with the National-SOM survey (Society, Opinion, and Mass Media) data from 2010 to 2021. The National-SOM data is an annual representative survey that relies on questionnaires mailed out each September, achieving a response rate of $\approx 50\%$ (The SOM Institute, 2024). In the survey, respondents rate parties on

 $^{^{27}}$ It is the same as the equation for the Poisson model (Bruin, 2011).

a like-dislike scale from -5 to +5 and indicate their preferred party. I use these items to determine the party affiliation of the respondents as well as to measure their affective polarization towards SD. I took advantage of the variation in survey questionnaire dissemination dates to respondents and calculated the average negativity for each party based on the speech data from Paper 2 from three months before the questionnaire delivery date.²⁸ One advantage of taking speeches three months prior is that it increases the likelihood of in-parties delivering speeches aimed at SD. In total, more than 3,000 speeches focused on SD included negative language. To clarify, a Green Party partial is assigned the average elite negativity derived from the speeches of the Green Party MPs directed at SD three months before the questionnaire was sent to the respondent. The same process is used for the cross-party measure of negativity, which is based on the speeches of all parties delivered three months before the questionnaire delivery date. Figure 4 shows this assignment process. By ensuring the assigned in-party elite negativity is before the actual survey responses to the survey, I try to address the endogeneity issue, which relates to whether affective polarization at the electorate level drives elite negativity towards SD.

In-party elite negativity



Figure 4: Assignment of in-party elite negativity to National-SOM respondents in Paper 3

There are different ways to measure affective polarization at the mass-level: individual-level surveys, implicit measures, and survey experiments (Iyengar, Lelkes, Levendusky, Malhotra & Westwood, 2019). Surveys, such as the American National Election Studies (ANES), and the Comparative Study of Electoral Systems (CSES), are widely used sources for measuring affective polarization. In these surveys, respondents are typically asked, how cold or warm they feel

²⁸Respondents who did not have values for the survey delivery dates were dropped from the dataset ($\approx 10,000$).

towards their own party and the out-party (Iyengar et al., 2019), how various traits describe in- and out-party members (Druckman & Levendusky, 2019), and how averse they are to having close interpersonal relations with those from the opposing party (Bäck & Kokkonen, 2022).

A common way of measuring affective polarization is through the net-difference approach, which is simply finding the difference in the evaluations of one's preferred party and the out-party. Other studies simply use raw out-party evaluation (Harteveld et al., 2021; Wagner, 2021). Measuring affective polarization this way is straightforward in a two-party system, such as the US, but becomes more challenging in a multi-party context. This is because voters can sympathize with more than just one party, which is the case in countries like Sweden and Finland, where parties are arranged into ideological blocs. To adapt the concept to a multi-party system, Wagner (2021) proposes the weighted spreadof-scores measure, where, if the value is small, we can say that the individual is not affectively polarized because they have the same opinion towards different parties and vice-versa. To gauge affective polarization between blocs in Sweden, Reiljan and Ryan (2021) modify the spread-of-scores measures by applying relative vote share as weights in the evaluations of the out-parties belonging to the out-bloc. Meanwhile, Reiljan (2020) introduces the affective polarization index (AIP), which considers like-dislike evaluations of parties and party size, to assess the phenomenon at the party and country level. In this paper, I utilize both the net-difference approach and the raw party sympathy scores, as the former may obscure whether in-party or out-party evaluations are influenced by in-party elite negativity.

In the main analysis of this paper, I estimate OLS models using robust standard errors, including party and year fixed effects to assess the impact of in-party elite negativity on partian affective polarization towards SD. Additionally, I control for variables such as the respondent's party identification, position on socio-economic issues and cultural dimensions, trust in institutions, gender, age, and a weighted measure of cross-party negativity. The full model is shown in Equation 7. $AP_{i} = \alpha_{i} + \beta_{1}inpartyneg_{i} + \dots + \beta_{n}X_{n,i} + \gamma_{2}party_{i} + \dots + \gamma_{n}party_{i} + \lambda_{2}year_{i} + \dots + \lambda_{n}year_{i} + \epsilon_{i}$ (7)

3.6 Immigration Salience in Legislative Speeches (Paper 4)

Paper 4 examines the emphasis that mainstream parties place on immigration in their legislative speeches. It looks at how this is influenced by the radical right's electoral performance and attention to immigration, along with the impact of a mainstream rival's focus on the issue too. To conduct this analysis, I employed both a dictionary method and structural topic modeling on the speech data from Paper 1.

For the dictionary method, I implemented the one created by Tzelgov and Olander (2018). A key reason for selecting this dictionary is that it was specifically designed to identify speeches within the Riksdag that discuss immigration. Additionally, the same authors have iteratively updated their list of words through their own manual validation process. However, since this dictionary was initially crafted for debate titles, I excluded terms that I believed would not be appropriate when applied to the actual content of speeches.

Unlike dictionary-based methods, topic modeling belongs to a class of unsupervised models that do not require prior annotations or labeling of documents or words (Grimmer & Stewart, 2013). These models use the co-occurrence of words across documents to reveal latent themes or topical categories (Blei, 2012).

Topic modeling algorithms are mixture models, meaning they estimate the probability of a document belonging to a certain topic (Bail, n.d.). One widely used technique is structural topic modeling (STM), which is quite similar to latent dirichlet allocation (LDA), but allows for covariates of interest to inform topic prevalence, or how much a speaker is expected to dedicate segments of their statements on a certain topic. To illustrate, a speaker's party affiliation may influence the extent to which they engage in a certain topic and the specific language they use to discuss it.

Topic models are commonly used to analyze political attention (Greene & Cross, 2017). An example of its application to legislative speeches is by Magnusson, Öhrvall, Barrling and Mimno (2018), where they use a modified LDA

Search term	Correlation	
asyl+	0.76***	
flyt+	0.72***	
invandring+	0.48	
Combined	0.69***	
^a $*p < 0.1, **p < 0.05, ***p < 0.01.$		

Table 7. Pearson's correlation for GT search terms and importance of immigration based on National-SOM

to examine how different mainstream parties frame the issue of immigration in various debates in the Riksdag. Another example is by Johnston and Sprong (2022), which utilizes STM to assess how Dutch Green Party MPs address immigration in their speeches as a result of RRP electoral success.

One of the challenging things with topic modeling is determining the number of topic clusters, k. There is no straightforward way of determining the ktopics, as it depends on the nature of documents as well as one's goal in the analysis (Roberts et al., 2014). Furthermore, making sense of topic clusters and judging model quality requires a close examination of a substantive amount of texts that are supposed to exemplify the latent themes, necessitating validation procedures. To tackle the question regarding the number of topics, I adhere to Johnston and Sprong (2022), who argue that topic size must be sufficiently large to accommodate the diverse issues debated in parliament.

For Paper 4, I required more refined data on SD's electoral performance, unemployment rates, the number of asylum seekers, and public opinion on immigration. This is because the final data has a panel structure, where each observation indicates how much a speaker discusses immigration in their speech each month. To obtain as much variation as possible, I relied on SD's polling performance data. Additionally, I obtained the monthly number of asylum seekers from Statistics Sweden and the monthly unemployment rate from ILOSTAT database by the ILO. Regarding the perceived importance of immigration, I could have used the data from Svenska Trender, which is based on the National-SOM survey data, which provided yearly statistics on the percentage of respondents who indicated that immigration and integration were important social issues. However, I chose to use Google Trends instead, as it has been previously used to understand public opinion on immigration (Lorenz, Beck, Horneber, Keusch & Antoun, 2022). To do this, I selected three immigration-related keywords as search terms: "asyl+", "invandring+", and "flytkt+". I obtained their monthly search volume index, which indicates the relative popularity of a search term entered in Google's search engine over a defined time period, ranging from 0 to 100. To evaluate the GT-based measures regarding the importance of immigration, I aggregate the SVI values by year and compare it with the National-SOM survey data on the significance of immigration (*Svenska Trender 1986-2022*, 2023). As shown in Table 7, the correlations between the Google search terms and the measures from the National-SOM survey data are significantly and positively correlated, with the exception of "invandring+". These findings suggest that GT data may capture trends similar to those observed in the survey data.

Given the nested structure of the data in this paper, where monthly observations are nested within speakers and years, I estimate a multi-level model with random intercepts at both the speaker and year levels and include cluster-robust standard errors. For the main analysis models, I include both the lagged and current values of SD's attention to immigration based on their speeches, alongside the current and lagged values of the speaker's main rival's focus on the same issue. Additionally, I include the lagged values for the number of asylum seekers, the unemployment rate, the government status of the speaker's party, their bloc membership, and a variable to account for potential linear time trends. Following Bickel (2007), I build the three-level random intercepts model as follows. For the level-1 model, Y_{ijk} in Equation 8 refers to the attention to immigration for a specific month (i) from speaker (j) in year (k). The term $\beta_{1jk}X_1$ represents a vector of explanatory variables which I keep constant. The random intercept, denoted by β_{0jk} , reflects the average attention to immigration for speaker j in year k.

$$Y_{ijk} = \beta_{0jk} + \beta_{1jk}X_1 + \dots + \beta_{njk}X_n + e_{ijk} \tag{8}$$

For level-2, β_{00k} in Equation 9 refers to the speaker-level effect for the intercept, whereas u_{0ik} represents the speaker-specific variation around this value.

$$\beta_{0jk} = \beta_{00k} + u_{0jk} \tag{9}$$

$$\beta_{1jk} = \beta_{10k} + u_{1jk} \tag{10}$$

For level-3, γ_{000} in Equation 11 tells us the grand mean for issue attention, whereas u_{00k} denotes the year-specific deviation from this value.

$$\beta_{00k} = \gamma_{000} + u_{00k} \tag{11}$$

$$\beta_{10k} = \gamma_{100} + u_{10k} \tag{12}$$

This generates the mixed model shown in Equation 13.

$$Y_{ijk} = \gamma_{000} + u_{00k} + u_{0jk} + \beta_{1jk}X_1 + \dots + \beta_{njk}X_n + e_{ijk}$$
(13)

4 Summary of the Papers

This section offers an overview of the four papers included in this dissertation. Table 8 summarizes the main independent and dependent variables, data sources, methods, and findings of each paper.

4.1 Paper 1: Debating the Populist Pariah: Changing Party Dynamics and Elite Rhetoric in the Swedish Riksdag

Research on mainstream party responses show considerable variation in the way RRPs are confronted. Initially, many mainstream parties have opted for systematic exclusion of these parties from governing coalitions, effectively making them pariahs in their countries. However, as RRPs grew larger in size, mainstream parties were prompted to reevaluate their treatment of these ostracized parties. While this transition from initial exclusion to potential inclusion or cooptation has been examined through the policy directions of mainstream parties on immigration, less is known about how they play out in the legislative arena.

We argue that legislative debates are valuable opportunities for re-election driven MPs and political parties to engage in strategic position-taking (Proksch & Slapin, 2012, 2015). They can be leveraged by mainstream party MPs to reflect and reinforce their positioning goals towards the radical right party. To illustrate, when mainstream parties face a RRP which they consider as a pariah, this treatment should be evident in the way they speak about the radical right in parliamentary debates. Thus, legislative speeches directed at the radical right should adopt a more negative tone than statements directed at other mainstream parties. But as the RRP becomes electorally successful and more influential in coalition politics, it may alter the strategic considerations of center-right parties, as they hold the most potential for cooperation.

To examine our hypothesis, we analyze legislative speeches delivered in the Swedish Riksdag from 2010 to 2022, which is the period that corresponds to the time the Sweden Democrats was represented in the national parliament. To capture the tone and emotive quality of the legislative speeches, we conduct a dictionary-based sentiment analysis using the translated Lexicoder Sentiment Dictionary (Proksch et al., 2019). Our results show that elites from mainstream parties employ more negative language when speaking about SD and its repres-
entatives compared to speeches directed at other mainstream parties. We also demonstrate that this negativity has diminished over time, particularly among the center-right parties. Paper 1 demonstrates that the tone which mainstream party MPs use in their legislative speeches exemplify strategies of isolation, as well as the beginnings of the RRP's pariah status gradually fading.

4.2 Paper 2: Aligning with the Radical Right? Examining legislative speeches in response to SD's electoral success

The second paper explores the findings from Paper 1 at greater depth by examining contextual and individual factors that motivate mainstream party MPs to adopt a more engaging approach towards the radical right. Earlier research shows that RRP electoral success has significant implications on the policy positions of mainstream parties (Abou-Chadi & Krause, 2020), perceptions of societal norms (Bischof & Wagner, 2019; Ekholm, Bäck & Renström, 2022; Harteveld & Ivarsflaten, 2018; Valentim, 2021b), and the way parliamentary discourse is conducted (Valentim & Widmann, 2021). Furthermore, it has been shown to affect mainstream parties differently, with center-right parties being more strongly impacted by voter defection towards the RRP (Abou-Chadi et al., 2022; Bale et al., 2010; Butler, Naurin & Öhberg, 2017; De Lange, 2012; Han, 2015). Building on these studies, I look into how improved relative performance of the radical right incentivizes certain mainstream party MPs to switch to a more conciliatory tone in their speeches.

To understand the impact of the RRP's improved relative electoral performance on statements aimed at it, I analyze legislative speeches delivered in the Swedish Riksdag from 2010 to 2022. By combining a dictionary approach with word embeddings technique, I develop an augmented dictionary that more effectively captures the negativity in the speeches directed at SD. My findings demonstrate a differentiation in rhetorical responses between legislators from the center-left and center-right. Specifically, I observe a less antagonistic tone in the speeches by center-right legislators who represent districts where SD's vote share has increased relative to their own party. However, center-left legislators show no reduction in negativity in their speeches, even with Sweden Democrats improving its vote share relative to their own party. Combined, Papers 1 and 2 illustrate the evolving perception of the radical right among certain Swedish mainstream parties and the key factors influencing this, particularly the RRP's electoral success, which indicates voter preferences and motivates parties to adjust their communication strategies accordingly.

4.3 Paper 3: (De)polarizing Words: How elite rhetoric shapes affective polarization towards the radical right

Paper 3 examines the downstream effects of the interplay between mainstream parties and RRPs in the legislative arena. In this paper, I specifically look into the influence of elite rhetoric on partian animus towards the radical right among the electorate.

Insights from the affective polarization literature suggest that radical right parties are unique in the levels of partisan animus they receive and radiate. This exceptionalism of the radical right stems from their populist and nativist claims, linkages with the historically extreme movements, and radical positions in the socio-cultural dimension (Gidron et al., 2023; Harteveld et al., 2021; Reiljan, 2020). Previous research suggests that this affective polarization towards the radical right can also be influenced by elite communication (Bantel, 2023b). This is grounded on the findings from party cues studies, which in essence, observe that voters adjust their views to align with their preferred party. Following this logic, I argue that when a voter's in-party shows the RRP in a bad light, using overtly negative rhetoric, the voter will evaluate the radical right less favorably.

To test my argument, I analyze parliamentary speeches delivered in the Swedish Riksdag from 2010 to 2021, measuring negativity of elite rhetoric through sentiment analysis. I connect the results of the analysis with the National-SOM data to estimate partisan affective polarization towards the Swedish radical right party, Sweden Democrats. My findings indicate that there is an association between the respondent's affective polarization towards the radical right and the negativity of the voter's in-party. The effect of elite cues remain robust even among respondents who exhibit negative attitudes towards immigration. The findings in this paper stress the importance of elite rhetoric and how it can either contribute to the normalization or stigmatization of the radical right.

4.4 Paper 4: Talking about the Challenger's Issue: Immigration's Salience in Swedish parliamentary debates

Paper 4 explores the extent to which mainstream parties engage with the defining issue of the radical right, that is, immigration. Understanding this is important as mainstream parties must first choose to engage with the radical right's issue before they can alter their position. In this paper, I aimed to identify the factors that drive mainstream parties to focus on this issue.

One way to study this is by drawing on theories such as issue competition and issue entrepreneurship. In essence, issue competition suggests that political parties compete for voters by strategically highlighting issues where they are perceived as competent (Green-Pedersen, 2019). In this setting, one way for RRPs to undermine the comparative edge of mainstream parties is to raise issues that have been previously ignored and cannot be neatly subsumed within the traditional left-right dimension of conflict (De Vries & Hobolt, 2020; Hobolt & De Vries, 2015). As such, mainstream parties tend to avoid these issues because they risk causing internal divisions and alienating segments of their voter base. In contrast, RRPs benefit from actively promoting these issues. As immigration becomes more prominent on the political agenda, the radical right's electoral appeal and prospects for coalitions grow.

Why, then, do mainstream parties take up this issue? Studies suggest that electoral pressure from the RRP influences mainstream parties' interest in this topic (Spoon, Hobolt & De Vries, 2014). The reasons behind this vary. Mainstream parties may bring up such issues to challenge the RRP's ownership over it. Given their extensive government experience, "policy-oriented" voters are more likely to prefer mainstream parties over the inexperienced RRP (Meguid, 2008). Additionally, mainstream parties might aim to maximize office-seeking opportunities (Green-Pedersen, 2019). For instance, center-right parties have more to gain from highlighting these issues as they attract cross-pressured voters who traditionally vote for left parties (Abou-Chadi, 2014). In contrast, centerleft parties might emphasize immigration but primarily to defend it against the RRP (Johnston & Sprong, 2022). Nevertheless, not all studies are convinced about the influence of RRPs on the politicization of immigration. However, when a mainstream rival with a history as a formateur and no ties to questionable origins addresses immigration, mainstream parties respond accordingly.

To determine the effects of RRP electoral performance and attention to immigration, I use a dictionary approach and structural topic modeling on speeches delivered in the Riksdag from 2010 to 2022. I find that immigration's salience in mainstream party MPs' speeches is positively associated with the RRP's focus on immigration and electoral performance. Dancygier and Margalit (2020) observe that the effect of RRP electoral strength diminishes when the number of asylum-seekers and time trends are factored in. In my case, I find a similar decline in effect, to the point of disappearing when considering mainstream competitors' attention to immigration. Furthermore, it appears that the reaction to the mainstream rival's emphasis on immigration goes beyond simply participating in a debate on the topic or replying to a previous speaker who initiated the issue.

Paper	Variables	Data	Method	Findings
Debating the Populist Pariah: Changing Party Dynamics and Elite Rhetoric in the Swedish Riksdag	DV: Sentiment; IV: Party target and Bloc	ParlSpeech dataset and Swedish Riksdag Open Data (2010- 2022)	Sentiment analysis and OLS regressions	Rhetoric directed at SD is neg- ative relative to other Riksdag parties but this negativity has declined over time
Adapting to Radical Right Rival? Examining legislative speeches in response to SD's electoral success	DV: Negativity; IV: SD's relative electoral performance	ParlSpeech dataset, Swedish Riksdag Open Data (2010-2022), election and district data, meta-data on MP	Dictionary approach, word embeddings and NBM regressions	Speeches by center-right MPs becomes less antagonistic when SD relative electoral perform- ance improves in their electoral district
(De)polarizing Words: How elite rhetoric shapes affective polariz- ation towards the radical right	DV: Affective polar- ization towards SD (mass), IV: In-party negativity (elite)	ParlSpeech dataset, Swedish Riksdag Open Data (2010-2021), National-SOM data (2010-2021)	OLS regressions	Affective polarization towards SD increases with the negativity of the respondent's in-party des- pite negative attitudes towards immigration
Talking about the Challenger's Issue: Immigration's salience in Swedish parliamentary debates	DV: Share of Speeches on Immigration, Document-Topic Pro- portion; IV: SD's attention to immig- ration and electoral performance, Main rival bloc's attention to immigration	ParlSpeech dataset, Swedish Riksdag Open Data (2010-2022), polling and unemploy- ment data, Google Trends data	Dictionary approach, Structural Topic Modeling, Multi-level models	Immigration salience in main- stream party speeches increases as SD and mainstream party MPs pay more attention to it, and when SD's poll performance improves

Table 8 n rtation Pan

5 Conclusion

Previous studies have looked into how mainstream parties alter their immigration and multiculturalism policy positions in response to the radical right. In contrast, this dissertation focuses on the more overlooked legislative context. Unlike election campaigns, legislatures present a more constrained environment that may necessitate mainstream parties to reconsider their initial strategies (Heinze, 2022). Nevertheless, I argue that within this institutional framework, legislative debates enable mainstream parties to effectively challenge the radical right, particularly by adjusting the tone of their speeches regarding the RRP and choosing to emphasize or downplay its defining issue. I refer to these strategic actions as rhetorical responses by mainstream parties.

This dissertation addressed several research questions. First, how do mainstream parties and MPs vary in their sentiment toward the radical right and the attention they place on its defining issue in their legislative speeches? Second, what factors account for the variation in sentiment and focus on immigration among mainstream parties and MPs? Lastly, what consequences does in-party negativity have on affective polarization toward the radical right? To address these questions, I examined the case of Sweden, which was previously considered exceptional for not having an electorally successful radical right, a situation that changed with the Sweden Democrats entry into the Riksdag in 2010.

Regarding the first research question, Paper 1 reveals that speeches aimed at SD are generally more negative in sentiment than those addressed to other mainstream parties. Nevertheless, this negativity has decreased over time among center-right parties. By using a dictionary that better captures negativity in legislative speeches, Paper 3 reflects this trend, revealing a decline in negativity among center-right parties, except for the Center Party. Paper 4 shows that the focus on immigration among mainstream parties increased with the entry of the Sweden Democrats in parliament and during the 2015 refugee crisis. As for the second research question, the findings in the dissertation suggest that the changing sentiment towards SD and the focus on immigration can be attributed to the electoral threat posed by the radical right. In Paper 2, the results show that when the vote share gap widens in favor of SD in the district of the speaker's party, center-right MPs adjust their tone. Additionally, Paper 4 demonstrates that when SD performs well in polls and highlights immigration, mainstream MPs are more inclined to address the issue in their speeches. However, this reaction also applies when a mainstream party rival brings up the issue. Lastly, regarding the consequences of in-party negativity, Paper 3 shows that partisans incorporate negativity directed at SD from their elites into their affective evaluations of SD, despite agreeing with the radical right on the issue of immigration. Overall, these findings deepen our understanding of how mainstream parties adapt their rhetoric when confronted by the radical right, as well as its implications for the electorate.

Despite these insights, there are several aspects of this dissertation that can be further expanded upon. For instance, in Paper 2, the differences in electoral incentives between MPs who re-ran and those who did not during my period of analysis can be examined. I expect that the latter group of MPs will experience greater electoral pressure, making them more sensitive to the threat posed by the relative performance of the radical right in their district. However, this information still needs to be incorporated into my current data. By including it, I anticipate that it will strengthen the observed effects of the improved relative performance of the radical right on the negativity adjustment of centerright MPs. Furthermore, in the papers, I focused solely on the strategic use of positivity and negativity in speeches. Future research could go beyond merely assessing positive and negative valence and explore whether mainstream parties strategically leverage more specific emotions, such as fear, anger, enthusiasm, disgust, or even joy, pride and hope, when addressing the radical right (Valentim & Widmann, 2021; Yildirim, 2024). However, as Haselmayer and Jenny (2017, p.2624) note, "automated methods tend to exhibit a strong bias, as they are predominantly developed and validated in the English language". This has, of course, impacted my dissertation while working with a language like Swedish. To my knowledge, I am only aware of the NRC Word-Emotion Association Lexicon (Mohammad, 2016b) and the Linguistic Inquiry Word Count (Pennebaker, 2001), which have been machine-translated into Swedish and can identify discrete emotions. But unlike LSD, they have not been specifically developed to detect valence in political texts. Nevertheless, I attempted to address the shortcomings of a dictionary approach by augmenting another off-the-shelf dictionary with word embeddings to identify context-specific words to add to it. Ideally,

I would have used crowd-sourcing to validate the performance of the sentiment analysis with the augmented dictionary. Additionally, I could have utilized large language models like BERT, which are currently state-of-the-art in language modeling, for generating contextual vectors, sentiment classification, and topic modeling. But, even to train some of these models, a considerable amount of hand-coded training data would be necessary. Furthermore, while they are slowly gaining popularity for research tasks in political science, understanding the necessary parameters to fine-tune these models and the evaluation metrics is crucial and must be clarified for applied researchers. Lastly, my findings are based on observational studies, which raise the issue of endogeneity—whether the independent variable or the dependent variable influences the other or vice versa. For example, in Paper 3, I attempted to tackle this issue by ensuring that in-party negativity occurred before the distribution of the survey questionnaire. In the absence of experimental design, I performed a form of placebo test to ensure that in-party elite negativity does not correlate with assessments of other out-parties. Nevertheless, an experimental design would, of course, be better at reducing endogeneity concerns.

Taken together, the findings of this dissertation provide important insights. As highlighted in the results from Paper 3, elite rhetoric has the potential to intensify partian animosity, particularly towards the radical right. The decision to adopt a confrontational tone towards the RRP sets a precedent for how it is perceived by partial whether the approach comes from strategy or some necessary defense of democracy, it risks deepening the emotional divide between the radical right supporters and those of mainstream parties, which could, in turn, legitimize uncivil behavior towards the opposing group. Additionally, such use of negative language could play into the radical right's narrative of victimhood, potentially benefiting them electorally. As illustrated by van Spanje and De Vreese (2015) with the case of Geert Wilders' incitement speech prosecution, targeting a political leader of an anti-immigration party can sometimes be counter-productive, indeed, his eventual acquittal only ended up increasing the probability of voting for the party. In contrast, mainstream parties opting to soften their rhetoric may contribute to the normalization of the radical right and its policies. Voters with latent sympathies for the radical right's policies may feel validated if their party leaders adopt a more accommodative tone towards it. As shown by Ekholm et al. (2022), the tendency to sympathize with SD increases among voters when mainstream parties express their willingness to collaborate with the RRP in parliament.

Recent developments in Swedish party politics also indicate significant changes, with some center-right parties increasingly collaborating with the radical right on specific policy matters. One party has even expressed interest in including them in government. Meanwhile, other parties continue to uphold distinctively different views on the radical right and its issues. These changes in positions and alliances could lead to parliament, particularly legislative debates, becoming new sites of political division and polarization, influencing the overall tone of political discourse. Perhaps we may even observe a new rhetorical divide emerging in response to these realignments, particularly in debates concerning contentious issues such as immigration. Only time will reveal the outcomes.

References

- Abou-Chadi, T. (2014). Niche party success and mainstream party policy shifts– how green and radical right parties differ in their impact. British Journal of Political Science, 46(2), 417–436.
- Abou-Chadi, T., Cohen, D. & Wagner, M. (2022). The centre-right versus the radical right: the role of migration issues and economic grievances. *Journal of Ethnic and Migration Studies*, 48(2), 366–384.
- Abou-Chadi, T. & Krause, W. (2020). The causal effect of radical right success on mainstream parties' policy positions: A regression discontinuity approach. British Journal of Political Science, 50(3), 829–847. doi: 10.1017/S0007123418000029
- Abou-Chadi, T. & Wagner, M. (2020). Electoral fortunes of social democratic parties: do second dimension positions matter? Journal of European Public Policy, 27(2), 246-272. Retrieved from https://doi.org/10.1080/ 13501763.2019.1701532 doi: 10.1080/13501763.2019.1701532
- Abramowitz, A. I. & Saunders, K. L. (2006). Exploring the bases of partisanship in the American electorate: Social identity vs. ideology. *Political Research Quarterly*, 59(2), 175–187.
- Abramowitz, A. I. & Webster, S. W. (2018). Negative Partisanship: Why Americans Dislike Parties But Behave Like Rabid Partisans. *Political Psychology*, 39, 119–135. doi: 10.1111/pops.12479
- Ahler, D. J. & Sood, G. (2018). The Parties in Our Heads: Misperceptions about Party Composition and Their Consequences. The Journal of Politics, 80(3), 964–981.

- Akkerman, T. (2015). Immigration policy and electoral competition in Western Europe: A fine-grained analysis of party positions over the past two decades. *Party Politics*, 21(1), 54–67.
- Akkerman, T. & Rooduijn, M. (2015). Pariahs or Partners? Inclusion and Exclusion of Radical Right Parties and the Effects on Their Policy Positions. *Political Studies*, 63(5), 1140–1157. Retrieved from https://doi.org/ 10.1111/1467-9248.12146 doi: 10.1111/1467-9248.12146
- Arbetsplenum. (2024). (https://www.riksdagen.se/globalassets/ 05.-sa-fungerar-riksdagen/arbetet-i-riksdagen/debatter-och -beslut-i-kammaren/dr-arbetsplenum-2024-11-20-002-ny-version -241126.pdf)
- Axelsen, J. E. (2024). The cordon sanitaire: a social norm-based model. Journal of Elections, Public Opinion and Parties, 34(2), 277–297.
- Aylott, N. & Bolin, N. (2019). A party system in flux: The Swedish parliamentary election of September 2018. West European Politics, 42(7), 1504–1515. Retrieved from https://doi.org/10.1080/01402382.2019 .1583885 doi: 10.1080/01402382.2019.1583885
- Bäck, H., Baumann, M., Debus, M. & Müller, J. (2019). The Unequal Distribution of Speaking Time in Parliamentary-Party Groups. *Legislative Studies Quarterly*, 44(1), 163–193. doi: 10.1111/lsq.12222
- Bäck, H., Carroll, R., Renström, E. & Ryan, A. (2023). Elite communication and affective polarization among voters. *Electoral Studies*, 84, 102639.
- Bäck, H. & Debus, M. (2016). Political Parties, Parliaments and Legislative Speechmaking. Palgrave Macmillan.
- Bäck, H., Debus, M. & Müller, J. (2014). Who takes the parliamentary floor? the role of gender in speech-making in the swedish riksdag. *Political Re*search Quarterly, 67(3), 504–518.
- Bäck, H., Debus, M. & Müller, J. (2014). Who Takes the Parliamentary Floor? The Role of Gender in Speech-making in the Swedish Riksdag. *Political Research Quarterly*, 67(3), 504–518. doi: 10.1177/1065912914525861
- Bäck, H. & Kokkonen, A. (2022). Affektiv polarisering bland riksdagsledamöterna. In P. Öhberg, H. Oscarsson & J. Ahlbom (Eds.), (p. 189-202). Göteborgs universitet: Statvetenskapliga institutionen.

- Backlund, A. (2020). Isolating the Radical Right (Unpublished doctoral dissertation). Södertörn University.
- Bail, C. (n.d.). Topic modeling. Retrieved from https://cbail.github.io/ SICSS_Topic_Modeling.html
- Bale, T. (2003). Cinderella and her ugly sisters: The mainstrem and extreme right in Europe's bipolarising party systems. West European Politics, 26(3), 67–90. doi: 10.1080/01402380312331280598
- Bale, T., Green-Pedersen, C., Krouwel, A., Luther, K. R. & Sitter, N. (2010). If You Can't Beat Them, Join Them? Explaining Social Democratic Responses to the Challenge from the Populist Radical Right in Western Europe. *Political Studies*, 58(3), 410–426. doi: 10.1111/j.1467-9248.2009 .00783.x
- Banda, K. K. & Cluverius, J. (2018). Elite polarization, party extremity, and affective polarization. *Electoral Studies*, 56(September), 90–101. Retrieved from https://doi.org/10.1016/j.electstud.2018.09.009 doi: 10.1016/j.electstud.2018.09.009
- Bantel, I. (2023a). Camps, not just parties. The dynamic foundations of affective polarization in multi-party systems. *Electoral Studies*, 83, 102614. Retrieved from https://doi.org/10.1016/j.electstud.2023.102614
- Bantel, I. (2023b). Competitors or foes? The structure and dynamics of affective polarization in multi-party systems (Unpublished doctoral dissertation). University of Zurich.
- Barber, M., McCarty, N., Mansbridge, J. & Martin, C. J. (2015). Causes and consequences of polarization. *Political negotiation: A handbook*, 37, 39–43.
- Bassan-Nygate, L. & Weiss, C. M. (2022). Party Competition and Cooperation Shape Affective Polarization: Evidence from Natural and Survey Experiments in Israel (Vol. 55) (No. 2). Retrieved from https://doi.org/ 10.1177/00104140211024283 doi: 10.1177/00104140211024283
- Baumann, M., Bäck, H. & Carroll, R. (2021, 10). Sweden: Biased Debate Participation with Nearly Equal Gender Representation. In *The politics of legislative debates*. Oxford University Press. Retrieved from https://doi.org/10.1093/oso/9780198849063.003.0035
 doi: 10.1093/oso/9780198849063.003.0035

- Bernaerts, K., Blanckaert, B. & Caluwaerts, D. (2023). Institutional design and polarization. do consensus democracies fare better in fighting polarization than majoritarian democracies? *Democratization*, 30(2), 153–172. Retrieved from https://doi.org/10.1080/13510347.2022.2117300 doi: 10.1080/13510347.2022.2117300
- Bestvater, S. E. & Monroe, B. L. (2023). Sentiment is not stance: Target-aware opinion classification for political text analysis. *Political Analysis*, 31(2), 235–256.
- Bettarelli, L., Reiljan, A. & Van Haute, E. (2023). A regional perspective to the study of affective polarization. *European Journal of Political Research*, 62(2), 645–659.
- Bettarelli, L. & Van Haute, E. (2022). Regional inequalities as drivers of affective polarization. *Regional Studies, Regional Science*, 9(1), 549–570.
- Bichay, N. (2024). Come together: Far-right parties and mainstream coalitions. Government and Opposition, 59(3), 633–654.
- Bickel, R. (2007). Multilevel Analysis for Applied Research: It's just Regression! Guilford Press.
- Bischof, D. & Wagner, M. (2019). Do Voters Polarize When Radical Parties Enter Parliament? American Journal of Political Science, 63(4), 888–904. doi: 10.1111/ajps.12449
- Bjånesøy, L. (2023). Negative partisanship and the populist radical right: The case of Norway. Scandinavian Political Studies, 46(1-2), 99–120.
- Bjarnøe, C., Adams, J. & Boydstun, A. (2023). "Our Issue Positions are Strong, and Our Opponents' Valence is Weak": An Analysis of Parties' Campaign Strategies in Ten Western European Democracies. British Journal of Political Science, 53(1), 65–84.
- Blei, D. M. (2012). Probabilistic topic models. Communications of the ACM, 55(4), 77–84.
- Blomgren, M. (2018). Inkluderande och exkluderande strategier och forhallningsatt mot Sverigedemokraterna i tre av riksdagens utskott (Unpublished master's thesis). Stockholm University, Department of Political Science.
- Bougher, L. D. (2017). The Correlates of Discord: Identity, Issue Alignment, and Political Hostility in Polarized America (Vol. 39) (No. 3). Springer US. doi: 10.1007/s11109-016-9377-1

- Bruin, J. (2011, February). newtest: command to compute new test @ON-LINE. Retrieved from https://stats.oarc.ucla.edu/stata/output/ negative-binomial-regression/
- Budge, I. (2015). Issue emphases, saliency theory and issue ownership: a historical and conceptual analysis. West European Politics, 38(4), 761– 777.
- Bullock, J. G. (2020, 06). Party Cues. In The Oxford Handbook of Electoral Persuasion. Oxford University Press. Retrieved from https://doi.org/ 10.1093/oxfordhb/9780190860806.013.2 doi: 10.1093/oxfordhb/ 9780190860806.013.2
- Burnham, M. (2024). Stance detection: a practical guide to classifying political beliefs in text. *Political Science Research and Methods*, 1–18.
- Butler, D. M., Naurin, E. & Öhberg, P. (2017). Party Representatives' Adaptation to Election Results: Dyadic Responsiveness Revisited. *Comparative Political Studies*, 50(14), 1973–1997.
- Calvo, E. M. L., Bäck, H. & Carroll, R. (2024). Debating the Populist Pariah: Changing Party Dynamics and Elite Rhetoric in the Swedish Riksdag. *Political Research Quarterly*, 77(3), 950–961. Retrieved from https:// doi.org/10.1177/10659129241253220
- Capoccia, G. (2001). Defending democracy: Reactions to political extremism in inter-war Europe. European Journal of Political Research, 39(4), 431– 460.
- Chou, W., Dancygier, R., Egami, N. & Jamal, A. A. (2021). Competing for loyalists? How party positioning affects populist radical right voting. *Comparative Political Studies*, 54 (12), 2226–2260.
- Christiansen, F. J. (2016). The Danish People's Party: Combining cooperation and radical positions. In L. Curini & R. Franzese (Eds.), Radical Right-Wing Populist Parties in Western Europe Into the Mainstream? (pp. 94– 112). London: Routledge. doi: https://doi.org/10.4324/9781315687988
- Cochrane, C., Rheault, L., Godbout, J.-F., Whyte, T., Wong, M. W.-C. & Borwein, S. (2022). The Automatic Analysis of Emotion in Political Speech Based on Transcripts. *Political Communication*, 39(1), 98–121.

- Crabtree, C., Golder, M., Gschwend, T. & Indridason, I. H. (2020). It is not only what you say, it is also how you say it: The strategic use of campaign sentiment. *The Journal of Politics*, 82(3), 1044–1060.
- Crouch, D. & Eriksen, L. (2015). Denmark swings to the right as centre-left coalition accepts defeat. The Guardian. Retrieved from https://www.theguardian.com/world/2015/jun/19/ denmark-swings-right-centre-left-coalition-faces-defeat
- Dancygier, R. & Margalit, Y. (2020). The Evolution of the Immigration Debate: Evidence from a New Dataset of Party Positions Over the Last Half-Century. *Comparative Political Studies*, 53(5), 734–774.
- De Lange, S. L. (2012). New Alliances: Why Mainstream Parties Govern with Radical Right-Wing Populist Parties. *Political Studies*, 60(4), 899–918. doi: 10.1111/j.1467-9248.2012.00947.x
- Debatter i kammaren. (2023). Retrieved from https://www.riksdagen.se/sv/ sa-fungerar-riksdagen/arbetet-i-riksdagen/debatter-och-beslut -i-kammaren/debatter-i-kammaren/
- De Vries, C. E. & Hobolt, S. B. (2020). *Political entrepreneurs*. Princeton University Press.
- Downs, A. (1957). An economic theory of democracy. New York: Harper & Bros.
- Downs, W. M. (2001). Pariahs in their midst: Belgian and Norwegian parties react to extremist threats. West European Politics, 24(3), 23–42. doi: 10.1080/01402380108425451
- Downs, W. M. (2002). How effective is the Cordon Sanitaire? Lessons from Efforts to Contain the Far Right in Belgium, France, Denmark, and Norway. Journal für Konflikt- und Gewaltforschung, 4(1), 49–69.
- Downs, W. M. (2012). Political extremism in democracies: Combating intolerance. Springer.
- Druckman, J. N. & Levendusky, M. S. (2019). What do we measure when we measure affective polarization? *Public Opinion Quarterly*, 83(1), 114–122. doi: 10.1093/poq/nfz003
- Druckman, J. N., Peterson, E. & Slothuus, R. (2013). How elite partisan polarization affects public opinion formation. American political science review, 107(1), 57–79.

- Eggers, A. C. & Spirling, A. (2014). Ministerial responsiveness in westminster systems: Institutional choices and House of Commons debate, 1832–1915. *American Journal of Political Science*, 58(4), 873–887.
- Ekholm, K., Bäck, H. & Renström, E. A. (2022). Sympathizing with the radical right: Effects of mainstream party recognition and control of prejudice. *Journal of Social and Political Psychology*, 10(1), 141–157. Retrieved from https://doi.org/10.5964/jspp.9235
- Gervais, B. T. (2017). More than mimicry? The role of anger in uncivil reactions to elite political incivility. International Journal of Public Opinion Research, 29(3), 384–405.
- Gervais, B. T. (2019). Rousing the partian combatant: Elite incivility, anger, and antideliberative attitudes. *Political Psychology*, 40(3), 637–655.
- Gessler, T. & Hunger, S. (2022). How the refugee crisis and radical right parties shape party competition on immigration. *Political Science Research and Methods*, 10(3), 524–544.
- Giannetti, D. & Pedrazzani, A. (2016). Rules and Speeches: How Parliamentary Rules Affect Legislators' Speech-Making Behavior. Legislative Studies Quarterly, 41(3), 771–800.
- Gidron, N., Adams, J. & Horne, W. (2023). Who dislikes whom? Affective polarization between pairs of parties in western democracies. *British Journal* of Political Science, 53(3), 997–1015.
- Golder, M. (2016). Far right parties in Europe. Annual review of political science, 19, 477–497.
- Grande, E., Schwarzbözl, T. & Fatke, M. (2019). Politicizing immigration in Western Europe. Journal of European Public Policy, 26(10), 1444–1463.
- Green, J. & Hobolt, S. B. (2008). Owning the issue agenda: Party strategies and vote choices in British elections. *Electoral Studies*, 27(3), 460–476.
- Greene, D. & Cross, J. P. (2017). Exploring the Political Agenda of theEuropean Parliament Using a Dynamic Topic Modeling Approach. *Political Analysis*, 25(1), 77–94.
- Green-Pedersen, C. (2007). The growing importance of issue competition: The changing nature of party competition in Western Europe. *Political studies*, 55(3), 607–628.

- Green-Pedersen, C. (2019). The Reshaping of West European Party Politics: Agenda-Setting and Party Competition in Comparative Perspective. Oxford University Press. Retrieved from https://doi.org/10.1093/oso/ 9780198842897.001.0001 doi: 10.1093/oso/9780198842897.001.0001
- Green-Pedersen, C. & Otjes, S. (2019). A hot topic? Immigration on the agenda in Western Europe. *Party Politics*, 25(3), 424–434.
- Grimmer, J., Roberts, M. E. & Stewart, B. M. (2022). Text as data: A new framework for machine learning and the social sciences. Princeton University Press.
- Grimmer, J. & Stewart, B. M. (2013). Text as data: The promise and pitfalls of automatic content analysis methods for political texts. *Political Analysis*, 21(3), 267–297. doi: 10.1093/pan/mps028
- Grofman, B. (2004). Downs and two-party convergence. Annu. Rev. Polit. Sci., 7(1), 25–46.
- Hadj Abdou, L., Bale, T. & Geddes, A. P. (2022). Centre-right parties and immigration in an era of politicisation. *Journal of Ethnic and Migration Studies*, 48(2), 327–340.
- Hager, A. & Hilbig, H. (2020). Does public opinion affect political speech? American Journal of Political Science, 64(4), 921-937. Retrieved from https://onlinelibrary.wiley.com/doi/abs/10.1111/ ajps.12516 doi: https://doi.org/10.1111/ajps.12516
- Han, K. J. (2015). The Impact of Radical Right-Wing Parties on the Positions of Mainstream Parties Regarding Multiculturalism. West European Politics, 38(3), 557-576. Retrieved from http://dx.doi.org/10.1080/01402382
 .2014.981448 doi: 10.1080/01402382.2014.981448
- Harris, G. (1994). The Dark Side of Europe: The Extreme Right Today. Edinburgh University Press. Retrieved from https://books.google.se/ books?id=oRuDAAAAMAAJ
- Harteveld, E. (2021). Fragmented foes: Affective polarization in the multiparty context of the Netherlands. *Electoral Studies*, 71(October 2020), 102332. Retrieved from https://doi.org/10.1016/j.electstud.2021.102332 doi: 10.1016/j.electstud.2021.102332

- Harteveld, E. & Ivarsflaten, E. (2018). Why women avoid the radical right: Internalized norms and party reputations. British Journal of Political Science, 48(2), 369–384.
- Harteveld, E., Mendoza, P. & Rooduijn, M. (2021). Affective Polarization and the Populist Radical Right: Creating the Hating? Government and Opposition, 1–25. doi: 10.1017/gov.2021.31
- Haselmayer, M. & Jenny, M. (2017). Sentiment analysis of political communication: Combining a dictionary approach with crowdcoding. *Quality & quantity*, 51, 2623–2646.
- Heinze, A. S. (2018). Strategies of mainstream parties towards their right-wing populist challengers: Denmark, Norway, Sweden and Finland in comparison. West European Politics, 41(2), 287–309. Retrieved from http:// doi.org/10.1080/01402382.2017.1389440 doi: 10.1080/01402382.2017 .1389440
- Heinze, A.-S. (2022). Dealing with the populist radical right in parliament: mainstream party responses toward the Alternative for Germany. *European Political Science Review*, 14(3), 333–350.
- Herzog, A. & Benoit, K. (2015). The most unkindest cuts: speaker selection and expressed government dissent during economic crisis. *The Journal of Politics*, 77(4), 1157–1175.
- Hjorth, F. (2020, August). Establishment Responses to Populist Radical Right Challenges: The Politics of Moral Distancing. In (pp. 1–47). Retrieved from https://osf.io/qg6bz/
- Hjorth, F. & Larsen, M. V. (2020). When Does Accommodation Work? Electoral Effects of Mainstream Left Position Taking on Immigration. British Journal of Political Science, 949–957. doi: 10.1017/S0007123420000563
- Hjorth, F., Nyrup, J. & Larsen, M. V. (2020). Reining in the Rascals: How Representation Mainstreams Extreme Parties. Retrieved from https:// fghjorth.github.io/papers/rascals.pdf
- Hobolt, S. B. & De Vries, C. E. (2015). Issue entrepreneurship and multiparty competition. *Comparative Political Studies*, 48(9), 1159–1185.
- Huddy, L. (2001). From social to political identity: A critical examination of social identity theory. *Political Psychology*, 22(1), 127–156. doi: 10.1111/ 0162-895X.00230

- Huddy, L. & Yair, O. (2021). Reducing Affective Polarization: Warm Group Relations or Policy Compromise? *Political Psychology*, 42(2), 291–309. doi: 10.1111/pops.12699
- Hutter, S. & Kriesi, H. (2022). Politicising immigration in times of crisis. Journal of Ethnic and Migration Studies, 48(2), 341–365.
- Ilie, C. (2006). Insulting as (un) parliamentary practice in the British and Swedish parliaments: A rhetorical approach. In *Cross-cultural perspectives on parliamentary discourse* (pp. 45–86). John Benjamins Publishing Company.
- Interpellationsvar. (2018). (https://www.riksdagen.se/globalassets/ 05.-sa-fungerar-riksdagen/arbetet-i-riksdagen/debatter-och -beslut-i-kammaren/debattregler-2018-07-01-interpellationer .pdf)
- Ivanusch, C. (2024). Issue competition in parliamentary speeches? A computerbased content analysis of legislative debates in the Austrian Nationalrat. *Legislative Studies Quarterly*, 49(1), 203–221.
- Ivarsflaten, E. (2006). Reputational Shields: Why Most Anti-Immigrant Parties Failed in Western Europe, 1980-2005. In Annual meeting of the American Political Science Association, Philadelphia (Vol. 31).
- Iyengar, S., Lelkes, Y., Levendusky, M., Malhotra, N. & Westwood, S. J. (2019). The Origins and Consequences of Affective Polarization in the United States. Annual Review of Political Science, 22, 129–146. Retrieved from https://doi.org/10.1146/annurev-polisci-051117- doi: 10.1146/ annurev-polisci-051117
- Iyengar, S., Sood, G. & Lelkes, Y. (2012). Affect, not ideology: A social identity perspective on polarization. *Public Opinion Quarterly*, 76(3), 405–431. doi: 10.1093/poq/nfs038
- Iyengar, S. & Westwood, S. J. (2015). Fear and loathing across party lines: New evidence on group polarization. American journal of political science, 59(3), 690–707.
- Johnston, S. A. T. & Sprong, S. (2022, jan). Seeking an adversary: The radical right and the saliency of pro-immigration positions in green party speeches. *Party Politics*, 29(2), 347–358. doi: 10.1177/13540688211067932

- Jolly, S., Bakker, R., Hooghe, L., Marks, G., Polk, J., Rovny, J., ... Vachudova, M. A. (2022). Chapel Hill Expert Survey trend file, 1999–2019. *Electoral Studies*, 75, 102420. Retrieved from https://www.sciencedirect .com/science/article/pii/S0261379421001323 doi: https://doi.org/ 10.1016/j.electstud.2021.102420
- Kekkonen, A. & Ylä-Anttila, T. (2021). Affective blocs: Understanding affective polarization in multiparty systems. *Electoral Studies*, 72(June). doi: 10 .1016/j.electstud.2021.102367
- Knudsen, E. (2021). Affective Polarization in Multiparty Systems? Comparing Affective Polarization Towards Voters and Parties in Norway and the United States. *Scandinavian Political Studies*, 44(1), 34–44. doi: 10.1111/1467-9477.12186
- Kollberg, M. F. (2023). Populist Rhetoric in Party Competition and its Effects on Voters (Unpublished doctoral dissertation). University College London.
- Kortmann, M. & Stecker, C. (2019). Party competition and immigration and integration policies: a comparative analysis. *Comparative European Politics*, 17, 72–91.
- Kosmidis, S., Hobolt, S. B., Molloy, E. & Whitefield, S. (2019a). Party competition and emotive rhetoric. *Comparative Political Studies*, 52(6), 811–837.
- Kosmidis, S., Hobolt, S. B., Molloy, E. & Whitefield, S. (2019b). Party competition and emotive rhetoric. *Comparative Political Studies*, 52(6), 811–837.
- Krause, W., Cohen, D. & Abou-Chadi, T. (2023). Does accommodation work? Mainstream party strategies and the success of radical right parties. *Political Science Research and Methods*, 11(1), 172–179.
- Kristersson: Därför kan vi tänka oss att samarbeta med sd. (2021, September). SVT. (Available at: https://www.svt.se/nyheter/inrikes/kristersson-oppnar-upp-for-sd-blivit-mer-seriosa Accessed: 22 September 2024))
- Leander, C. (2022). Assessing pariah party status: Concept operationalization and the case of the Sweden Democrats. Scandinavian Political Studies. doi: 10.1111/1467-9477.12227

- Lelkes, Y. (2018). Affective polarization and ideological sorting: A reciprocal, albeit weak, relationship. Forum (Germany), 16(1), 67–79. doi: 10.1515/ for-2018-0005
- Lelkes, Y. (2021). Policy over party: Comparing the effects of candidate ideology and party on affective polarization. *Political Science Research and Methods*, 9(1), 189–196. doi: 10.1017/psrm.2019.18
- Levendusky, M. S. (2013). Why do partisan media polarize viewers? American Journal of Political Science, 57(3), 611–623.
- Lewandowsky, M., Schwanholz, J., Leonhardt, C. & Blätte, A. (2022). In M. Oswald (Ed.), *The Palgrave Handbook of Populism* (pp. 611–628). Palgrave.
- Lewandowsky, M. & Wagner, A. (2023). Fighting for a lost cause? Availability of populist radical right voters for established parties. The case of Germany. *Representation*, 59(3), 485–512.
- Lijphart, A. (2012). The Consensus Model of Democracy. In Patterns of democracy (pp. 30-45). Yale University Press. Retrieved 2025-01-23, from http://www.jstor.org/stable/j.ctt32bg23.7
- Liu, B. (2012). Sentiment Analysis and Opinion Mining. Springer Cham.
- Lorenz, R., Beck, J., Horneber, S., Keusch, F. & Antoun, C. (2022). Google Trends as a Tool for Public Opinion Research: An Illustration of the Perceived Threats of Immigration. In S. Pötzschke & S. Rinken (Eds.), Migration Research in a Digitized World: Using Innovative Technology to Tackle Methodological Challenges (pp. 193-206). Cham: Springer International Publishing. Retrieved from https://doi.org/10.1007/ 978-3-031-01319-5_10 doi: 10.1007/978-3-031-01319-5_10
- Lucas, C., Nielsen, R. A., Roberts, M. E., Stewart, B. M., Storer, A. & Tingley, D. (2015). Computer-assisted text analysis for comparative politics. *Political Analysis*, 23(2), 254–277. doi: 10.1093/pan/mpu019
- Maerz, S. F. & Puschmann, C. (2020). Text as Data for Conflict Research: A Literature Survey. In E. Deutschmann, J. Lorenz, L. G. Nardin, D. Natalini & A. F. X. Wilhelm (Eds.), *Computational Conflict Research* (pp. 43–65). Cham: Springer International Publishing. Retrieved from https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-030-29333-8_3 doi: 10.1007/ 978-3-030-29333-8_3

- Magnusson, M., Öhrvall, R., Barrling, K. & Mimno, D. (2018). Voices from the far right: a text analysis of Swedish parliamentary debates. , 1–28. doi: 10.31235/osf.io/jdsqc
- Martherus, J. L., Martinez, A. G., Piff, P. K. & Theodoridis, A. G. (2021). Party animals? Extreme partian polarization and dehumanization. *Political Behavior*, 43, 517–540.
- Martin, D. & Nai, A. (2024). Deepening the rift: Negative campaigning fosters affective polarization in multiparty elections. *Electoral Studies*, 87, 102745.
- Mason, L. (2013). The Rise of Uncivil Agreement: Issue Versus Behavioral Polarization in the American Electorate. American Behavioral Scientist, 57(1), 140–159. Retrieved from https://doi.org/10.1177/ 0002764212463363 doi: 10.1177/0002764212463363
- Mason, L. (2015). "I disrespectfully agree": The differential effects of partisan sorting on social and issue polarization. American Journal of Political Science, 59(1), 128–145. doi: 10.1111/ajps.12089
- Mason, L. (2016). A cross-cutting calm: How social sorting drives affective polarization. *Public Opinion Quarterly*, 80(Specialissue1), 351–377. doi: 10.1093/poq/nfw001
- Meguid, B. M. (2005). Competition between Unequals : The Role of Mainstream Party Strategy in Niche Party Success. American Political Science Review, 99(3), 347–359.
- Meguid, B. M. (2008). Party Competition between Unequals: Strategies and Electoral Fortunes in Western Europe. Cambridge University Press.
- Meléndez, C. & Kaltwasser, C. R. (2021). Negative partisanship towards the populist radical right and democratic resilience in Western Europe. *Democratization*, 28(5), 949–969. Retrieved from https://doi.org/10.1080/ 13510347.2021.1883002 doi: 10.1080/13510347.2021.1883002
- Meyer, S. & Rosenberger, S. (2015). Just a shadow? The role of radical right parties in the politicization of immigration, 1995–2009. *Politics and Governance*, 3(2), 1–17.
- Mikolov, T., Sutskever, I., Chen, K., Corrado, G. S. & Dean, J. (2013). Distributed representations of words and phrases and their compositionality. Advances in neural information processing systems, 26.

- Minkenberg, M. (2013). From Pariah to Policy-Maker? The Radical Right in Europe, West and East: Between Margin and Mainstream. Journal of Contemporary European Studies, 21(1), 5–24. doi: 10.1080/14782804 .2013.766473
- Mohammad, S. M. (2016a). Sentiment Analysis: Detecting Valence, Emotions, and Other Affectual States from Text. In H. L. Meiselman (Ed.), *Emotion Measurement* (p. 201-237). Woodhead Publishing. Retrieved from https://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/ B9780081005088000096 doi: https://doi.org/10.1016/B978-0-08-100508 -8.00009-6
- Mohammad, S. M. (2016b). Sentiment Analysis: Detecting Valence, Emotions, and Other Affectual States from Text. *Emotion Measurement*, 201–237. doi: 10.1016/B978-0-08-100508-8.00009-6
- Mudde, C. (2007). *Populist Radical Right Parties in Europe*. Cambridge University Press.
- Mudde, C. (2010). The populist radical right: A pathological normalcy. *west* european politics, 33(6), 1167–1186.
- Mudde, C. (2019). The Far Right Today. John Wiley & Sons.
- Nai, A. & Maier, J. (2024). Polarized Populists: Dark Campaigns, Affective Polarization, and the Moderating Role of Populist Attitudes. *American Behavioral Scientist*, 00027642241242056.
- Norris, P. (2005). *Radical Right: Voters and Parties in the Electoral Market*. Cambridge University Press.
- Oja, S. & Mral, B. (2013). The Sweden Democrats Came In from the Cold: How the Debate about Allowing the SD into Media Arenas Shifted between 2002 and 2010. In *Right-wing populism in europe: Politics and discourse* (pp. 277–292). London: Bloomsbury Academic.
- Oscarsson, H., Bergman, T., Bergström, A. & Hellström, J. (2021). Demokratirådets rapport 2021: Polarisering i Sverige (Tech. Rep.). Studieförbundet Näringsliv och Samhälle.
- Osnabrügge, M., Hobolt, S. B. & Rodon, T. (2021). Playing to the gallery: Emotive rhetoric in parliaments. American Political Science Review, 115(3), 885–899.

- Pennebaker, J. W. (2001). *Linguistic inquiry and word count: LIWC 2001*. Lawrence Erlbaum Associates.
- Pennington, J., Socher, R. & Manning, C. D. (2014). GloVe: Global Vectors for Word Representation. In Proceedings of the 2014 conference on empirical methods in natural language processing (EMNLP) (pp. 1532–1543).
- Poljak, Ž. & Walter, A. S. (2023). Parties' parliamentary attack behaviour throughout the electoral cycle. *Party Politics*, 13540688231188476.
- Poyet, C. & Raunio, T. (2021). Reconsidering the Electoral Connection of Speeches: The Impact of Electoral Vulnerability on Legislative Speechmaking in a Preferential Voting System. Legislative Studies Quarterly, 46(4), 1087–1112.
- Proksch, S. O., Lowe, W., Wäckerle, J. & Soroka, S. (2019). Multilingual Sentiment Analysis: A New Approach to Measuring Conflict in Legislative Speeches. Legislative Studies Quarterly, 44(1), 97–131. doi: 10.1111/ lsq.12218
- Proksch, S. O. & Slapin, J. B. (2012). Institutional Foundations of Legislative Speech. American Journal of Political Science, 56(3), 520–537. doi: 10 .1111/j.1540-5907.2011.00565.x
- Proksch, S. O. & Slapin, J. B. (2015). The politics of parliamentary debate: Parties, rebels, and representation. Cambridge University Press. doi: 10 .1017/CBO9781139680752
- Rauh, C. & Schwalbach, J. (2020). The ParlSpeech V2 data set: Full-text corpora of 6.3 million parliamentary speeches in the key legislative chambers of nine representative democracies. , 1–14. doi: 10.31235/osf.io/cd2qs
- Reiljan, A. (2016). Affective Polarization in European Party Systems. ECPR Graduate Student Conference Paper. Retrieved from https://ecpr.eu/Filestore/PaperProposal/c588a466 -ecdd-48f4-a127-dfc5db37f909.pdf
- Reiljan, A. (2020). 'Fear and loathing across party lines' (also) in Europe: Affective polarisation in European party systems. *European Journal of Political Research*, 59(2), 376–396. doi: 10.1111/1475-6765.12351

- Reiljan, A. & Ryan, A. (2021). Ideological Tripolarization, Partisan Tribalism and Institutional Trust: The Foundations of Affective Polarization in the Swedish Multiparty System. Scandinavian Political Studies, 44(2), 195– 219. doi: 10.1111/1467-9477.12194
- Renström, E. A., Bäck, H. & Carroll, R. (2021). Intergroup threat and affective polarization in a multi-party system. The Journal of Social and Political Psychology, 9(2), 553–576.
- Renström, E. A., Bäck, H. & Carroll, R. (2022). Protecting the Ingroup? Authoritarianism, Immigration Attitudes, and Affective Polarization. Frontiers in Political Science, 4. Retrieved from https://www.frontiersin.org/journals/political-science/ articles/10.3389/fpos.2022.919236 doi: 10.3389/fpos.2022.919236
- Renström, E. A., Bäck, H. & Carroll, R. (2023). Threats, emotions, and affective polarization. *Political Psychology*, 44(6), 1337–1366.
- Rice, D. R. & Zorn, C. (2021). Corpus-based dictionaries for sentiment analysis of specialized vocabularies. *Political Science Research and Methods*, 9(1), 20–35.
- Roberts, M. E., Stewart, B. M., Tingley, D., Lucas, C., Leder-Luis, J., Gadarian, S. K., ... Rand, D. G. (2014). Structural topic models for open-ended survey responses. *American journal of political science*, 58(4), 1064–1082.
- Rodriguez, P. L. & Spirling, A. (2022). Word embeddings: What works, what doesn't, and how to tell the difference for applied research. *The Journal* of Politics, 84(1), 101–115.
- Røed, M., Bäck, H. & Carroll, R. (2023). Who polarizes parliament? Partisan hostility in Norwegian legislative debates. *Party Politics*, 13540688231215003.
- Rogowski, J. C. & Sutherland, J. L. (2016). How Ideology Fuels Affective Polarization. *Political Behavior*, 38(2), 485–508. doi: 10.1007/s11109-015 -9323-7
- Rudkowsky, E., Haselmayer, M., Wastian, M., Jenny, M., Emrich, Š. & Sedlmair, M. (2018). More than Bags of Words: Sentiment Analysis with Word Embeddings. *Communication Methods and Measures*, 12(2-3), 140–157. Retrieved from https://doi.org/10.1080/19312458.2018.1455817 doi: 10.1080/19312458.2018.1455817

- Ryan, A. (2023). Exploring differences in affective polarization between the Nordic countries. Scandinavian Political Studies, 46(1-2), 52–74.
- Rydgren, J. (2002). Radical Right Populism in Sweden: Still a Failure, But for How Long? Scandinavian Political Studies, 25(1), 27. Retrieved from https://ludwig.lub.lu.se/login?url=https://search.ebscohost .com/login.aspx?direct=true&AuthType=ip,uid&db= poh&AN=6194654&site=eds-live&scope=site
- Schwalbach, J. (2022a). Going in circles? The influence of the electoral cycle on the party behaviour in parliament. European Political Science Review, 14(1), 36–55.
- Schwalbach, J. (2022b). Talking to the Populist Radical Right: A Comparative Analysis of Parliamentary Debates. *Legislative Studies Quarterly*, 1–27. doi: 10.1111/lsq.12397
- Schwörer, J. & Fernández-García, B. (2021). Demonisation of political discourses? How mainstream parties talk about the populist radical right. West European Politics, 44(7), 1401–1424. Retrieved from https:// doi.org/10.1080/01402382.2020.1812907 doi: 10.1080/01402382.2020 .1812907
- Silva, B. C., Schürmann, L. & Proksch, S.-O. (2023). Modulation of Democracy: Partisan Communication During and After Election Campaigns. British Journal of Political Science, 1–16.
- Skytte, R. (2021). Dimensions of elite partian polarization: Disentangling the effects of incivility and issue polarization. British Journal of Political Science, 51(4), 1457–1475.
- Slapin, J. B., Kirkland, J. H., Lazzaro, J. A., Leslie, P. A. & O'Grady, T. (2018). Ideology, Grandstanding, and Strategic Party Disloyalty in the British Parliament. American Political Science Review, 112(1), 15–30. doi: 10.1017/S0003055417000375
- Slothuus, R. & Bisgaard, M. (2021). How political parties shape public opinion in the real world. American Journal of Political Science, 65(4), 896–911.
- Spoon, J.-J., Hobolt, S. B. & De Vries, C. E. (2014). Going green: Explaining issue competition on the environment. *European Journal of Political Research*, 53(2), 363–380.

- Strøm, K. (1990). A behavioral theory of competitive political parties. American Journal of Political Science, 565–598.
- Svenska Trender 1986-2022 (Tech. Rep.). (2023). Göteborgs Universitet. Retrieved from chrome-extension:// efaidnbmnnnibpcajpcglclefindmkaj/https://www.gu.se/sites/ default/files/2023-08/1.%20Svenska%20trender%201986-2022.pdf
- Sverigedemokraterna. (2014). VI VÄLJER VÄLFÄRD! Retrieved from https://snd.se/en/vivill/party/sd/v/2014
- Sverigedemokraterna. (2022). Sverigedemokraternas Valplattform 2022. Retrieved from https://snd.se/en/vivill/party/sd/v/2022
- Sveriges Radio. (2015). Christian democrats reject december agreement. Sveriges Radio.
- SVT. (2024). Kd öppnar för att sitta i regering med sd. SVT. Retrieved from https://www.svt.se/nyheter/inrikes/uppgifter-kd -oppnar-for-att-sitta-i-regering-med-sd
- Så arbetar utskotten. (2023). Retrieved from https://www.riksdagen.se/ sv/sa-fungerar-riksdagen/utskotten-och-eu-namnden/sa-arbetar -utskotten/
- Tajfel, H., Turner, J. C., Austin, W. G. & Worchel, S. (1979). An integrative theory of intergroup conflict. Organizational identity: A reader, 56(65), 9780203505984–16.
- The Economist. (2019). Denmark's social democrats bet the migrantbashers at their game. *The Economist*. Retrieved from https://www.economist.com/europe/2019/06/09/denmarks-social -democrats-beat-the-migrant-bashers-at-their-game
- The SOM Institute. (2024). About the SOM surveys. Retrieved from https://www.gu.se/en/som-institute/about-the-som-surveys
- TV4 Nyheterna. (2014, 18th December). Attacken i riksdagen: Du är inte min talman - Nyheterna (TV4. https://www.youtube.com/watch?v= 9KvBNoJXrb4.
- Tzelgov, E. & Olander, P. (2018). Economic Decline and Extreme-Right Electoral Threat: How District-Level Factors Shape the Legislative Debate on Immigration. Legislative Studies Quarterly, 43(4), 649–679.

- Vahter, M. & Jakobson, M.-L. (2023). The moral rhetoric of populist radical right: the case of the sweden democrats. *Journal of Political Ideologies*, 1–22.
- Valentim, V. (2021a). Parliamentary Representation and the Normalization of Radical Right Support. Comparative Political Studies, 54 (14), 2475–2511. doi: 10.1177/0010414021997159
- Valentim, V. (2021b). Parliamentary Representation and the Normalization of Radical Right Support. Comparative Political Studies, 54 (14), 2475–2511.
- Valentim, V. & Widmann, T. (2021). Does Radical-Right Success Make the Political Debate More Negative? Evidence from Emotional Rhetoric in German State Parliaments. *Political Behavior*(0123456789). Retrieved from https://doi.org/10.1007/s11109-021-09697-8 doi: 10.1007/ s11109-021-09697-8
- van Spanje, J. & Van Der Brug, W. (2007). The party as pariah: The exclusion of anti-immigration parties and its effect on their ideological positions. West European Politics, 30(5), 1022–1040. doi: 10.1080/01402380701617431
- van Haute, E. & Pauwels, T. (2016). The Vlaams Belang: Party Organization and Party Dynamics. In R. Heinisch & O. Mazzoleni (Eds.), Understanding Populist Party Organisation: The Radical Right in Western Europe (pp. 49-77). London: Palgrave Macmillan UK. Retrieved from https://doi .org/10.1057/978-1-137-58197-6_3 doi: 10.1057/978-1-137-58197-6_3
- van Kleef, C., Mickler, T. & Otjes, S. (2024). The partian foundations of parliamentary speech: How parliamentary party groups decide who gets to speak for them. *Party Politics*, 30(5), 880–893.
- van Spanje, J. (2010). Contagious parties: Anti-immigration parties and their impact on other parties' immigration stances in contemporary western europe. Party Politics, 16(5), 563–586. doi: 10.1177/1354068809346002
- van Spanje, J. (2010). Parties beyond the pale: Why some political parties are ostracized by their competitors while others are not. Comparative European Politics, 8, 354–383.
- van Spanje, J. (2018). Controlling the Electoral Marketplace. doi: 10.1007/ 978-3-319-58202-3

- van Spanje, J. & de Graaf, N. D. (2018). How established parties reduce other parties' electoral support: the strategy of parroting the pariah. West European Politics, 41(1), 1–27. Retrieved from http://doi.org/10.1080/01402382.2017.1332328 doi: 10.1080/01402382.2017.1332328
- van Spanje, J. & De Vreese, C. (2015). The good, the bad and the voter: The impact of hate speech prosecution of a politician on electoral support for his party. *Party Politics*, 21(1), 115–130.
- Wagner, M. (2021). Affective polarization in multiparty systems. *Electoral Studies*, 69(December 2019), 102199. Retrieved from https://doi.org/10 .1016/j.electstud.2020.102199 doi: 10.1016/j.electstud.2020.102199
- Webster, S. W. & Abramowitz, A. I. (2017). The Ideological Foundations of Affective Polarization in the U.S. Electorate. American Politics Research, 45(4), 621–647. doi: 10.1177/1532673X17703132
- Welfare State Analytics. (accessed on May 2, 2023). *Riksdagen corpus*. https://github.com/welfare-state-analytics/riksdagen-corpus.
- Widfeldt, K. (2004). The Diversified Approach. Swedish responses to the Extreme right. In R. Eatwell & C. Muddle (Eds.), Western Democracies and the New Extreme Right Challenge (pp. 150–171). Ashgate. doi: 10.4324/9780203402191
- Widmann, T. & Wich, M. (2022). Creating and comparing dictionary, word embedding, and transformer-based models to measure discrete emotions in german political text. *Political Analysis*, 1–16.
- Yildirim, T. M. (2024). Emotions in the aisles: Unpacking the use of emotive language in the UK House of Commons. European Journal of Political Research. Retrieved from https://ejpr.onlinelibrary.wiley.com/doi/ abs/10.1111/1475-6765.12733 doi: https://doi.org/10.1111/1475-6765 .12733
- Young, L. & Soroka, S. (2012). Affective News: The Automated Coding of Sentiment in Political Texts. *Political Communication*, 29(2), 205–231. doi: 10.1080/10584609.2012.671234

Scientific Papers

OLD FOE, NEW FRIEND explores the evolving strategies of mainstream parties and their relationship with the radical right through quantitative text analysis of legislative speeches.

ESTHER CALVO earned her degrees in political science from the University of the Philippines Diliman and Central European University Budapest. Her research interests include party competition, political behavior, and quantitative text analysis. A passionate foodie and bibliophile, she is always on the lookout for the next great meal and the next best book to add to her collection.





Faculty of Social Sciences Department of Political Science

> Lund Political Studies 221 ISBN 978-91-8104-423-2 ISSN 0460-0037

